Public Document Pack

AGENDA
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Tuesday 26 November 2019 at 6.30 pm
Committee Room A, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, TN1 1RS

Borough Council Representatives:

Councillors Barrington-King
(Vice-Chairman),
Everitt,
Ms Palmer and Warne

Independent Members:

Mr Quigley and Mr Shiels

Parish/Town Council Representatives:

Councillors Edwards and Mackonochie

Quorum:

(Chairman), Reilly
Horwood,
Neve,

3 Members, to include at least one independent member

1

Chairman's Introduction (Pages 5 - 6)

2

Apologies for Absence (Pages 7 - 8)
Apologies for absence as reported at the meeting.

3

Declarations of Interest (Pages 9 - 10)
To receive any declarations of interest by Members in items on the agenda.
For any advice on declarations of interest, please contact the Monitoring Officer.

4

Notification of Visiting Members wishing to speak (in accordance with Council
Procedure Rule 18): (Pages 11 - 12)
Members should indicate which item(s) they wish to speak on and the nature of their
concern/question/request for clarification.

5

Minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee dated 10 September
2019 (Pages 13 - 16)

6

Interim Internal Audit & Assurance Report 2019/20 (Pages 17 - 40)

7

Strategic Risk Review (Pages 41 - 56)

8

Update on complaints received under the Members' Code of Conduct (Pages 57 - 62)

9

Request to consider a dispensation in respect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest
(Pages 63 - 96)

Page 1

10

Future Work Programme (Pages 97 - 98)

11

Urgent Business (Pages 99 - 100)

12

Date of Next Meeting 31 March 2020 at 6pm (Pages 101 - 102)

Emer Moran
Democratic Services Officer
Emer.moran@tunbridgewells.gov.uk

Town Hall
ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS
Kent TN1 1RS
Tel: (01892) 554413

mod.gov app – go paperless
Easily download, annotate and keep all committee paperwork on your
mobile device using the mod.gov app – all for free!
Visit www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp for details.

Page 2

All visitors wishing to attend a public meeting at the Town Hall between the hours of 9.00am
and 5.00pm should report to reception via the side entrance in Monson Way. After 5pm,
access will be via the front door on the corner of Crescent Road and Mount Pleasant Road,
except for disabled access which will continue by use of an 'out of hours' button at the entrance
in Monson Way.
Notes on Procedure
(1)

A list of background papers appears at the end of each report, where appropriate,
pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972, section 100D(i).

(2)

Members seeking factual information about agenda items are requested to contact the
appropriate Service Manager prior to the meeting.

(3)

Members of the public and other stakeholders are required to register with the Democratic
Services Officer if they wish to speak on an agenda item at a meeting. Places are limited
to a maximum of four speakers per item. The deadline for registering to speak is 4.00 pm
the last working day before the meeting. Each speaker will be given a maximum of 3
minutes to address the Committee.

(4)

All meetings are open to the public except where confidential or exempt information is
being discussed. The agenda will identify whether a meeting or part of a meeting is not
open to the public. Meeting rooms have a maximum public capacity as follows:
Council Chamber: 100, Committee Room A: 20, Committee Room B: 10.

(5)

Please note that the public proceedings of this meeting will be recorded and made
available for playback on the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council website. Any other third
party may also record or film meetings, unless exempt or confidential information is being
considered, but are requested as a courtesy to others to give notice of this to the
Democratic Services Officer before the meeting. The Council is not liable for any third
party recordings.
Further details are available on the website (www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk) or from
Democratic Services.

If you require this information in another format
please contact us, call 01892 526121 or email
committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk
Accessibility into and within the Town Hall – There is a wheelchair accessible lift
by the main staircase, giving access to the first floor where the committee rooms are
situated. There are a few steps leading to the Council Chamber itself but there is a
platform chairlift in the foyer.
Hearing Loop System – The Council Chamber and Committee Rooms A and B
have been equipped with hearing induction loop systems. The Council Chamber also
has a fully equipped audio-visual system.

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1
Audit and Governance
Committee
Chairman’s Introduction
Procedural Item:
Announcement on procedural matters.

Page 5

26 November
2019

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
Audit and Governance
Committee
Apologies for Absence
Procedural Item:
To receive any apologies for absence.

Page 7

26 November
2019

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
Audit and Governance
Committee

26 November 2019

Declarations of Interest
Procedural Item:
To receive any declarations of interest by members in items on the agenda. For any
advice on declarations of interest; please contact the Monitoring Officer before the
meeting.

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Audit and Governance
Committee

26 November 2019

Notification of Visiting Members wishing to
speak
Procedural Item:
To note any members of the Council wishing to speak, of which due notice has been
given in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 18, and which item(s) they wish to
speak on.

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
1
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Tuesday, 10 September 2019
Present: Councillor Barrington-King (Chairman)
Councillors Reilly (Vice-Chairman), Bailey, Everitt, Horwood, Neve, Ms Palmer, Warne,
Independent Members: Mr Quigley and Mr Shiels,
Parish/Town Council Representatives: Councillors Edwards and Mackonochie
Officers in Attendance: Cheryl Clark (Democratic Services Officer), Rich Clarke (Head of
Audit Partnership), Finbar Gibbons (Head of Policy and Governance), Lee Colyer (Director
of Finance, Policy and Development (Section 151 Officer)), Keith Trowell (Team Leader
(Corporate Governance)) and Paul Taylor (Director of Change and Communities)
Other Members in Attendance: Councillors Ellis and Hayward
Other Persons in Attendance: Mrs E Jackson, Engagement Lead and Mr A Oyerinde,
Senior Engagement Manager, Grant Thornton UK LLP
CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION
AG21/19

The Chairman opened the meeting, introduced Committee members and
officers in attendance, and outlined procedural matters of the meeting. A
minute’s silence was held for Councillor Basu who had recently passed away.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
AG22/19

There were no apologies for absence.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
AG23/19

No declarations of interest were received.

NOTIFICATION OF VISITING MEMBERS WISHING TO SPEAK (IN ACCORDANCE WITH
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 18):
AG24/19

No notifications of any visiting members wishing to speak had been received.
But Councillors Ellis and Hayward were in attendance to observe only.

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE DATED
2 JULY 2019
AG25/19

The minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee dated 2
July 2019 were submitted.
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the Audit and Governance Committee
dated 2 July 2019 be approved as a correct record.

ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER
AG26/19

Mr Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development presented this report,
which outlined the conclusions of the 2018/19 annual audit of Tunbridge
Wells Borough Council by Grant Thornton UK LLP.
Mr Oyerinde, Engagement Manager from Grant Thornton explained that the
Audit Letter was a highly summarised version of the Audit Report and Opinion

Page 13

Agenda Item 5
2
submitted to the Audit & Governance Committee earlier in the year.
Appendix A, additionally provided details of the reports issued and relative
fees plus the ongoing Housing Benefit Grant Certification which was due to
be completed by the end of November. It also detailed the additional fee of
£4,400 which related to the additional work required by Grant Thornton to
satisfy the requirements of their own quality regulators at a national level. Mr
Colyer made clear that there was no implied reflection on the performance of
TWBC in this respect and his commendation over the timely and accurate
submission of the annual report and accounts was endorsed by the
Committee. In response to matters raised over future ‘Value for Money’
concerns, Mrs Jackson confirmed that the Auditors would continue to oversee
the capacity and risk assessments relative to the Calverley Square project, if
it went ahead. In relation to the impact from Brexit, this remained largely
unknown but it was noted that as far as possible, TWBC had appropriate
arrangements in place.
The Chairman noted that the report on the Annual Audit Letter would
progress via the Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board to
Cabinet.
RESOLVED: That having been considered by the Audit and Governance
Committee, the Annual Audit Letter be approved.
ANNUAL REVIEW OF COMPLAINTS 2018/19
AG27/19

Mr Gibbons, Head of Policy and Governance, presented this report which
reviewed the complaints received by TWBC under the Council’s Corporate
Complaints Procedure, together with the decisions made by the LGO in
relation to those progressed to the Ombudsman.
The reduction in the number of complaints was noted and explained to be
due to a number of reasons including a new process introduced in 2017,
better management and reclassification of some issues as service requests
rather than complaints.
RESOLVED:

1. That the Audit & Governance Committee note the annual complaint
statistics and issues raised during 2018-19, and lessons learned as
a result of this feedback; and
2. That the Audit and Governance Committee note the Annual Review
letter published by the Local Government and Social Care
Ombudsman (LGO) at Appendix A.
UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS RECEIVED UNDER THE MEMBERS’ CODE OF CONDUCT
AG28/19

Mr Trowell, Team Leader (Corporate Governance) and Deputy Monitoring
Officer, presented this report, which provided an update on complaints
received under the Members’ Code of Conduct during the period 14 June
2019 to 30 August 2019.
Following note of the matters covered in the report and in response to a query
on the definitions of bullying and harassment opposed to normal behaviour,

Page 14

Agenda Item 5
3
Mr Trowell advised that he had already provided advice to Parish Councils.
He was also developing a further programme of training, which would be
available to Parishes on request.
RESOLVED: That members of the Audit and Governance Committee note
the update on complaints under the Members’ Code of Conduct.
STRATEGIC RISK REVIEW
AG29/19

Mr Colyer presented this report, which set out the strategic risks identified by
the Council and which were being managed and tracked by senior
management. The report provided a current update on the evaluated threat
level and controls in place for each risk issue. Mr Colyer introduced Mr
Taylor, Director of Change and Communities, who updated on Risk Scenario
9: The Amelia at the Amelia Scott. Mr Taylor explained that this project had
been ongoing since 2015 and had been updated both at meetings of Cabinet
and Overview and Scrutiny. The project had recently been added to the
Corporate Risk Register, and flagged as red in June 2019, due to concerns
over project timelines and increasing construction costs.
A general question had been raised by one of the Independent Members
regarding the accuracy of the opening statement in paragraph 3.1 of the
agenda report, which indicated there was no legal requirement on the
authority to formally monitor its risks nor a defined framework to do so when
the Internal Audit Regulations seemed to state that Audit work was required
to evaluate the effectiveness of risk management. Both Mr Clarke and Mr
Colyer clarified that there was indeed a broad requirement for risk
assessment and management but it was the precise definitions and details of
how, what and when that were not provided within legislation. This particular
issue in relation to monitoring the risks relating to the Calverley Square
Development and the impact on the contract works in real financial terms had
resulted in questions being raised by members. These had subsequently
been discussed between the Chairmen of both Overview and Scrutiny and
Audit and Governance, along with Executive Directors of the Council. The
resulting correspondence would be circulated to members of the respective
committees. In response Mr Colyer proposed that, in the event that the
Calverley Square Project went ahead, a group of appropriate auditors,
officers and councillors should be set up to manage the very real identified
risks in the absence of a proscribed statutory reporting framework. Mr Taylor
confirmed that although the details produced to this meeting were at
summary level, a detailed and fully costed risk register including construction
issues was being maintained in respect of the Amelia project. Finally, the
Chairman commended the practice of raising questions through the Chair, in
advance of the meeting, which had enabled such full investigation and
explanation to be provided to the Committee.
RESOLVED: That the Committee notes the risk management report and
arrangements for managing strategic risk.

FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME
AG30/19

The Committee’s work programme was presented for members’ information.
The Strategic Risk Owner due to attend on 26 November next was William
Benson, Chief Executive, followed by Gary Stevenson, Head of Housing,
Health and Environment, or Stephen Baughen, Head of Planning in March
2020.

Page 15

Agenda Item 5
4

RESOLVED: That the Work Programme be noted and amended to show the
attendance of Strategic Risk Owners for 26 November 2019 and 31 March
2020 as updated.
URGENT BUSINESS
AG31/19

RESOLVED: That there was no urgent business for consideration.

DATE OF NEXT MEETING - 26 NOVEMBER 2019
AG32/19

Mr Trowell clarified that the start time of the meeting was 6.30pm and not
6pm as shown on the agenda.
RESOLVED: That the next meeting of the Committee take place on Tuesday
26 November 2019, at 6.30pm
NOTES:
1. For full details of the proceedings, an audio recording of this meeting is
available on the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council website.
2. The meeting concluded at 7:20pm.

Page 16

Agenda Item 6
Audit & Governance
Committee

26 November 2019

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting?

Yes

Interim Internal Audit & Assurance Report
2019/20
Final Decision-Maker

Audit & Governance Committee

Portfolio Holder

Councillor Tom Dawlings – Portfolio Holder for Finance &
Governance

Lead Director

Lee Colyer – Director of Finance, Policy & Development
Steve McGinnes – Mid Kent Services Director

Head of Service

Rich Clarke – Head of Audit Partnership

Lead Officer/Author

Rich Clarke – Head of Audit Partnership

Classification

Non-exempt

Wards affected

All

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker:
1. The Committee notes and comments as appropriate on progress against the internal
audit plan and findings so far.

Explain how this report relates to the Corporate Priorities in the Five Year Plan:
This report is concerned with the internal control and governance of the Council.
Successful controls and effective governance are a crucial underpinning for all corporate
priorities.
Timetable
Meeting

Date

Audit & Governance Committee

26 November 2019
Tunbridge Wells Committee Report, version: May 2018

Page 17

Agenda Item 6
Interim Internal Audit & Assurance Report
2019/20
1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The report provides to Members an update on progress so far towards
completing the 2019/20 Internal Audit & Assurance Plan. It also provides the
update information needed by Audit Standards including an assessment of
available audit time, results of audit work and commentary on performance of
the audit service.
1.2 Our results so far in 2019/20 have yielded positive assurance ratings and there
are no matters of broader concern we wish to bring to Members’ attention.

2.

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 The report provides an update for Members on progress against the 2019/20
Internal Audit & Assurance plan approved by this Committee earlier this year.
The report also meets our duties under Public Sector Internal Audit Standard
2060 to report to Members on:








Our audit charter,
The independence of internal audit,
Audit plan changes and progress against the plan,
Resource needs of the audit service,
Results of audit work so far,
Affirming conformance with the Standards and Code of Ethics, and
Details of risks taken by management that, in the Head of Audit Partnership’s
judgement, may be unacceptable to the authority.

2.2 We have made sound progress through the plan so far. We will continue to
adjust our plans according to the Council’s risk profile and remain confident of
delivering a robust audit opinion by year end.
2.3 So far in 2019/20 we have delivered positive assurance ratings on all reviews
completed. Further we report good levels of delivery for officers acting to
addressing audit recommendations.
2.4 We also report our continuing conformance with the Standards (including
independence) and the Code of Ethics.

3.

PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 To keep conformance with the Standards we must report progress periodically
to Members. This report fulfils that duty and provides the opportunity for

Page 18

Agenda Item 6
Members to review, comment on and question the progress we have made and
the results we have reached.

4.

CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK

4.1 We discuss results of audit work with responsible officers within the authority
before issuing as final. We remain pleased to record to Members continuing
strong levels of co-operation from officers who have accepted all
recommendations made so far in 2019/20.
4.2 The report builds on Committee comments from previous similar reports at
equivalent points in earlier years.

5.

CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS

Issue
Legal including
Human Rights
Act
Finance and
other resources

Implications
Sign-off
Reporting to Members in his way contributes Rich Clarke
to fulfilling the Council’s duties under the
Head of Audit
Local Audit & Accountability Act 2014.
Partnership
Continuing the audit and assurance plan is
within already approved budgetary headings
and so needs no new funding for
implementation.
We will seek agreement for any new funding
to deal with the matters mentioned in the
report through the standard budgetary
approach of Maidstone BC (our host
authority) in consultation with Tunbridge
Wells BC.

Staffing
establishment

We will continue completing the audit and
assurance plan with our current staffing.
We will seek agreement for any changes to
staffing resulting from the matters
mentioned in the report through the
standard HR approach of Maidstone BC
(our host authority) in consultation with
Tunbridge Wells BC.

Page 19

14 November
2019

Agenda Item 6
Issue
Risk
management

Implications
We present this report for information only
so it has no direct risk management
implications.
Audit Standard 2060 demands we report to
Members any risks accepted by
management that in our view may be
unacceptable to the organisation. For
example, this might include audit
recommendations that management refuse
to address.
There are no risks we have identified in our
work that we believe management have
unreasonably accepted.

Data Protection

We handle data acquired in the course of
audit and other engagements in line with the
Council’s applicable policies.

Environment
and sustainability

The report makes no recommendations
that impact the environment and
sustainability.

Community
safety

The report makes no recommendations
that impact community safety.

Health and
Safety

The report makes no recommendations
that impact health and safety.

Health and
wellbeing

The report makes no recommendations
that impact health and wellbeing.

Equalities

6.


7.

The report does not propose a change in
service therefore will not need an
equalities impact assessment

REPORT APPENDICES
Appendix A: Interim Internal Audit & Assurance Report 2019/20

BACKGROUND PAPERS

None applicable

Page 20

Sign-off
Rich Clarke
Head of Audit
Partnership
14 November
2019

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT

Interim Internal Audit &
Assurance Report

November 2019
Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council

Page 21

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
Introduction
1.

The Institute of Internal Audit gives the mission of internal audit: to enhance and
protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective assurance, advice
and insight.

2.

The mission and its associated code of ethics and Standards govern over 200,000
professionals in businesses and organisations around the world. Within UK Local
Government, authority for internal audit stems from the Accounts and Audit
Regulations 2015. The Regulations state services must follow the Public Sector
Internal Audit Standards – an adapted and more demanding version of the global
standards. Those Standards set demands for our reporting:

Audit Charter
3.

This Committee approved our Audit Charter in September 2019 and it remains in place
through the audit year.

Page 22

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
Independence of internal audit
4.

Mid Kent Audit works as a shared service between Ashford, Maidstone, Swale and
Tunbridge Wells Borough Councils. A Shared Service Board including representatives
from each council supervises our work based on our collaboration agreement.

5.

Within Tunbridge Wells BC during 2019/20 we have continued to enjoy complete and
unfettered access to officers and records to complete our work. On no occasion have
officers or Members sought or gained undue influence over our scope or findings.

6.

I confirm we have worked with full independence as defined in our Audit Charter and
Standard 1100.

Management response to risk
7.

We include the results of our work in the year so far later in this report. In our work
we often raise recommendations for management action. During the year so far
management have agreed to act on all recommendations we have raised. We report
on progress towards implementation in the section titled Recommendation Follow Up
Results.

8.

There are no risks we have identified in our work that we believe management have
unreasonably accepted.

Resource Requirements
9.

We reported in our plan presented to this Committee in April 2019 an assessment on
the resources available to the audit partnership for completing work at the Council.
That review decided:
…we believe we have enough resource to deliver the 2019/20 plan

10.

Since that plan we have had considerable changes in staffing, including losing two (and
possibly three) members of the team to other internal audit services in Kent.
However, considering extra contractor support available to us through the Apex
Contract managed by LB Croydon, new recruits to the team and people returning from
maternity leave we remain content we have enough resource to deliver the plan.

Page 23

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
Audit Plan Progress
11.

This Committee approved our Annual Audit & Assurance Plan 2019/20 on 2 April 2019.
The plan set out an intended number of days devoted to each of various tasks. We
began work on the plan during May 2019 and expect completing enough to form our
Annual Opinion by June 2020.

12.

The table below shows progress in total number of days delivered against the plan
(figures are up to end of October 2019, part through the audit year).
Category
2018/19 Assurance Projects
2019/20 Assurance Projects
Non project assurance work1
Unallocated contingency
Totals (19/20 Work Only)

2019/20 Plan
Days
0
255
115
40
410

Outturn at
Interim
14
67
29
7
103

Days
Remaining
n/a
188
86
33
307

13.

Based on resources available to the partnership for the rest of the year we forecast
delivery of around 262 further audit days. This creates a forecast total of 365, or 90%
of planned days.

14.

We detail the specifics, and results, of this progress further within this report.

1

Non-assurance project work includes our work in the fields of Risk Management, Counter Fraud and
Investigative Support, following up recommendations and annual audit planning.

Page 24

MID KENT AUDIT
Results of Audit Work
15.

The tables below summarise audit project findings and outturn up to the date of this report. Where there are material matters finished
between report issue and committee meeting we will provide a verbal update. (* = days split between partners, MBC only shown).

Completed Assurance Projects Since Annual Report in June 2019
Title

Page 25

Report
Issue

Assurance
Rating

21
9*
6*
11
7*
8*
30

Jun-19
Jul-19
Jul-19
Aug-19
Aug-19
Oct-19
Oct-19

Sound
Sound
N/A
Sound
Sound
Sound
N/A

12
25
11

Oct-19
Nov-19
Nov-19

Strong
Sound
Strong

Notes

Reported to Members July 2019
Not assurance rated as advisory work

Not assurance rated as explained at VI

Appendix A

2018/19 Plan Projects Issued after 1 June 2019
Civic Development Procurement
I
Revenues & Benefits Compliance Team
II
General Data Protection Regulations
III
Customer Service Kiosks
IV
Council Tax Reduction Scheme
V
Cyber Security
VI
General Contract Management
2019/20 Plan Projects Issued up to Report Date
VII
Property Acquisition & Disposal
VIII
Creditors (Accounts Payable)
IX
Local Plan Consultation

Days
Spent

MID KENT AUDIT
Assurance Projects Underway
Title
Council Tax Billing
Developer Contributions
Safety Partnerships
Budget Setting
Members’ Allowances

Days So
Far
3*
4
2
2
1

Expected Final
Report
Dec-19
Jan-20
Dec-19
Dec-19
Feb-20

Notes / Stage
Fieldwork underway
Planning
Planning
Planning
Planning

Page 26

Assurance Projects Yet to Begin But Scheduled

Appendix A

Expected Start
Expected Report
Notes
Title
Discretionary Housing Payments
Quarter 3
Jan-20
Home Improvement Grants
Quarter 3
Feb-20
ICT Technical Support
Quarter 3
Feb-20
Joint with SBC & TWBC
Universal Credit
Quarter 3
Mar-20
Joint with TWBC
IT Project Management
Quarter 3
Mar-20
Joint with SBC & TWBC
Economic Development
Quarter 4
Mar-20
Information Management
Quarter 4
Apr-20
Cross partnership
Network Security
Quarter 4
May-20
Joint with SBC & TWBC
Absence Management
Quarter 4
May-20
Waste Collection
Quarter 4
May-20
We will continue to keep these projects under review because of our available resources and the changing risk position at the authority.

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
Audit Project Summary Results
I: Revenues & Benefits Compliance Team (July 2019)
16.

Our opinion based on our audit work is that the Compliance team has SOUND controls
in place to manage its risks and support achievement of its objectives.

17.

Our review found the Council's approach to receiving and dealing with data matches is
sound. Procedure notes are in place to support the team, who have clearly defined
roles and responsibilities. Our testing confirmed the service generally follows correct
procedure and accurately removes and recovers discounts from relevant accounts.

18.

We have identified some actions that will improve existing arrangements. These
include introducing quality assurance checks on work completed and clear service
performance reporting.
Recommendation summary

II: General Data Protection Regulations (July 2019)
19.

Our review found the Policy team were thorough in their preparations to help ensure
the Council were ready for the new GDPR requirements. This included some actions
unique to the 4 partner authorities, such as maintaining a GDPR risk register. The team
demonstrated the Council collects and processes data fairly, lawfully and
transparently and privacy notices are in line with ICO requirements.

20.

The Council has also justified why and how long it retains personal data, in line with
best practice guidance. However, testing found non-compliance with the retention
policy, which is not centrally enforced. Along with their Mid Kent partners, the Council
has yet to take a decision on how long to retain e-mails for.

Page 27

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
III: Customer Service Kiosks (August 2019)
21.

Our opinion based on our audit work is that the Customer Services has Sound controls
in place to manage its risks and support achievement of its objectives relating to
Customer Services (Kiosks).

22.

The kiosk located in the Tunbridge Wells Gateway building is used from Monday to
Friday by the public to make cash, debit or credit card payments towards Council
services. It is the responsibility of Gateway staff to maintain the operation of the
kiosk. The procedures relating to kiosk cash management is outlined in the Kiosk
Manual. It is the responsibility of Gateway staff to ensure security procedures are
upheld with respect to the building, the kiosk room, the safe and the kiosk itself. The
audit established the operation of the kiosk and security of the surrounding areas are
operating in accordance with agreed procedures.

23.

However, the audit found that some key cashing-up records are not always retained or
evidenced as reviewed.
Recommendation Summary

IV: Council Tax Reduction Scheme (August 2019)
24.

Our opinion based on our audit work is that the Service has Sound controls in place to
manage its risks and support achievement of its objectives relating to the council tax
reduction scheme.

25.

The council tax reduction scheme has been appropriately approved and is being
monitored through appropriate performance indicators which are regularly reported
to appropriate levels within both Councils.

26.

Our testing found that all claims sampled were verified, assessed and awarded in line
with the scheme. However, the Data Protection declaration present on the Council
Tax Support application form did not include all required text recommended by the
Information Commissioners Office in the most recent guidance on privacy statements.

Page 28

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
Recommendation summary

V: Cyber Security (October 2019)
27.

Following recent cyber-related attacks experienced by well-established organisations
including Councils and the NHS, cyber security has become a high-profile risk at many
organisations concerned about suffering a similar attack themselves.

28.

The HMG Cyber Essentials framework has been developed by Government and
industry to provide a clear statement of the basic controls that all organisations should
implement to mitigate the risk from internet-based threats, within the context of the
10 Steps to Cyber Security. The Cyber Essentials scheme defines a set of controls
which, when correctly implemented, will provide organisations with basic protection
from the most prevalent forms of threats derived from the Internet. In particular, it
focuses on threats which require low levels of attacker skill, and which are widely
available online.

29.

Risk management is a vital starting point for organisations to act to protect their
information and data. However, given the nature of the threat, the government
believes that action should begin with a core set of security controls which all
organisations – large and small – should implement. However, it does not offer a
solution to remove all cyber security risk; for example, it is not designed to address
more advanced, targeted attacks and hence organisations facing these threats will
need to implement additional measures as part of their security strategy.

30.

There is a Cyber Essentials Assurance Framework that offers a mechanism for
organisations to demonstrate to customers, investors, insurers and others that they
have taken these essential precautions. The level one Cyber Essentials certification is
awarded on the basis of a verified self-assessment. An organisation undertakes their
own assessment of their implementation of the Cyber Essentials control themes via a
questionnaire, which is approved by a senior executive such as the CEO. This
questionnaire is then verified by an independent accredited Certification Body to
assess whether an appropriate standard has been achieved, and certification can be
awarded. The level two (Cyber Essentials Plus) certification requires an independent

Page 29

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
vulnerability assessment to validate the effectiveness of controls declared in the selfassessment questionnaire.
31.

Please note this audit was carried out based on the cyber essential principles.

32.

Our opinion based on our audit work is that the IT service has SOUND controls in place
to manage its risks and support achievement of its objectives.
Recommendation summary

VI: General Contract Management (October 2019)
33.

In reviewing General Contract Management we found significant issues obtaining
information to provide assurance. This stems from the lack of centralised contract
records and the consequent demands on officers to provide information resulted in a
small and unrepresentative sample below the level where we would typically assign an
assurance rating. Nevertheless, many of the issues we identified require action
notwithstanding the audit being unable to reach a conclusion as intended. Therefore
we present this report based on findings to date to support officers in remedying
issues identified. We will return to this area for a full review following implementation
of agreed actions.

34.

The Council controls its work with contractors and suppliers through comprehensive,
standard form contracts and runs them using experienced contract managers. We
found managers had a good general understanding of contracts, especially financial
terms. However, we found significant weaknesses undermining the efficacy of the
Council’s contract management.

35.

We found the Council provides managers with no central training, guidance or
supervision on contract management meaning little consistency in how it oversees
contracts in practice. This includes limited understanding or documenting contract
risk, with no consistent approach to identifying and managing these risks. We also
noted the Council is inconsistent in collecting, analysing and reporting information
that would enable it to effectively identify performance breaches.

Page 30

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
Recommendation Summary

VII: Property Acquisition & Disposal (October 2019)
36.

Our opinion based on our audit work is that the Economic Development and Property
Service (the Service) has Strong controls in place to manage its risks and support
achievement of its objectives relating to Property Acquisition and Disposal.

37.

The Council’s Asset Management Plan (AMP) sets out how assets were managed,
maintained, acquired and disposed of over the past financial year and identifies
objectives for the coming financial year. A register of property assets is maintained
categorised by the function of each asset (either operational, non-operational, or
investment).

38.

In accordance with Section 123 and 127 of the Local Government Act 1972, the local
authority must not initiate disposal for “a consideration less than the best that can be
reasonably obtained”. It was established that this requirement has been effectively
fulfilled based on the rates given by external valuations for those properties tested.

VIII: Creditors (Accounts Payable) (November 2019)
39.

Our opinion based on our audit work is that Council’s financial services has SOUND
controls in place to manage the risks and support achievement of its objectives in its
accounts payable function.

40.

The Council’s financial controls work to keep risks managed effectively. We found a
mature and detailed control system supported by suitable guidance and experienced
officers. Key controls, such as segregation of duties and matching invoices, are in
place and effective. We also found the service working to aid transparency by
publishing its performance data, with plans to increase the data available.

41.

However, we found several controls in need of update or extension to ensure they
cover all relevant circumstances. For instance ensuring segregation of duty controls
include internal payment requests, removing duplicated supplier records and clarifying
officers use of Purchase Orders to document commitments.

Page 31

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
Recommendation Summary

IX: Local Plan Consultation (November 2019)
42.

Our opinion based on our audit work is that the Planning Service has STRONG controls
in place to manage the risks and support achievement of objectives when consulting
on the Local Plan.

45.

We found the Council is delivering an effective Draft Local Plan consultation in line
with regulations.

46.

There is an effective Member working group that regularly meet to discuss key issues
and encourage progress towards the New Local Plan. The service holds extensive
evidence of their identifying and notifying all relevant consultees in line with
Regulations. There is also evidence of good engagement to increase awareness and
encourage more participation to shape the borough’s future.
Recommendation Summary

Page 32

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
Agreed Actions Follow Up Results
47.

Our approach to agreed actions is that we follow up each as it falls due in line with the
plan agreed with management when we finish our reporting. We report progress on
implementation to Management Board each quarter. This includes noting any matters
of continuing concern and where we have revisited an assurance rating (typically after
addressing key actions).

48.

In total, we summarise in the table below the current position on following up agreed
actions:

Project

Total

Actions brought into 2019/20
New actions agreed in 2019/20
Total Actions Agreed
Fulfilled by 30 September 2019
Actions cfwd past 30 September
Not Yet Due
Delayed but no extra risk
Delayed with risk exposure

49.

9
37
46
20
26
21
5
0

High
Priority
2
6
8
2
6
5
1
0

Medium
Priority
3
13
16
9
7
6
1
0

Low
Priority
4
18
22
9
13
10
3
0

Further information on the sole high priority deferred action:


Licensing: The service has reissued one of the incorrect licenses that formed the
basis of our finding and is seeking further legal advice on the other. It is working
towards the training and system improvements that reduce the risk of future
recurrence. We will follow up again early in the New Year.

Page 33

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
50.

The table below shows distribution of outstanding recommendations across the
Council (filtered to show only recommendations relevant to Tunbridge Wells). Note
the numbers will not tally exactly with the table above because this includes
recommendations raised in draft reports and therefore not yet final and removes
actions cleared since 30 September.

Page 34

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
Other Audit Service Work
Counter Fraud Update
51.

We consider counter fraud and corruption risks in all of our audit engagements when
considering the effectiveness of control. We also undertake distinct work at assess
and support the Council’s arrangements.

Whistleblowing
52.

The Council’s whistleblowing policy names internal audit as one route through which
Members and officers can safely raise concerns on inappropriate or even criminal
behaviour.

53.

We have so far had no matters raised with us through the Whistleblowing Policy.

National Fraud Initiative
54.

We continue to coordinate the Council’s response to the National Fraud Initiative
(NFI). NFI is a statutory data matching project and we must send in various forms of
data to the Cabinet Office who manage the exercise.

55.

We have looked into matches from non-revenues datasets. The Cabinet Office assigns
a ‘risk’ rating to each match on a percentage scale. Our approach is to review all
matches in sets with less than 20 to examine, and to look at first to matches rated
over 50% risk in larger data sets. The Cabinet Office does not expect authorities to
look into every match.

56.

The table below sets out results so far for the data sets within Mid Kent Audit’s scope:
Dataset

Creditors
Payroll
Housing Waiting List
Procurement
Licensing
Totals

57.

Matches to
investigate
96
27
92
10
0
225

Completed

Frauds

Errors

Value

91
18
78
3
0
190

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

We are working towards completing the investigations by the end of the year. The
Cabinet Office plans to issue a new data set in January 2021.

Page 35

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
Other Audit and Advice Work
58.

We also continue to undertake a broad range of special and scheduled consultancy
and advice work for the Council. Examples include our attendance at Information
Governance Group and as part of the Management Team. We have also completed
specific reviews looking at individual parts of the Council’s control environment at the
request of officers.

59.

We have also led and contributed to a series of Member briefings at the Council on
issues of governance interest. We are keen to hear from Members on any other areas
of interest which may form future briefing sessions.

60.

We remain engaged and flexible in seeking to meet the assurance needs of the
Council. We are happy to discuss opportunities large and small where the Council can
usefully employ the experience and expertise of the audit team.

Code of Ethics and Standards Compliance
Code of Ethics
61.

This Code applies specifically to internal auditors, though individuals within the team
must comply with similar Codes for their own professional bodies. Also the Standards
also direct auditors in the public sector to consider the Committee on Standards in
Public Life’s Seven Principles of Public Life (the “Nolan Principles”).

62.

We have included the Code within our Audit Manual and training for some years. We
also have policies and guidance in place on certain specifics, such as managing and
reporting conflicts of interest.

63.

We can report to Members we remain in conformance with the Code.

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards & External Quality Assessment
64.

Under the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards we must each year assess our
conformance to those standards and report the results of that assessment to
Members.

65.

As described in previous updates, 2019/20 is the fifth year since we underwent an
external independent assessment and so we require a fresh review. We aim to put
this work out to contract before the end of November working towards having a final
report complete in the spring.

Page 36

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
66.

Based on our self-assessments we continue to work in full conformance with the
Standards.

Acknowledgements
67.

We achieve these results through the hard work and dedication of our team and the
resilience that comes from working a shared service across four authorities.

68.

As a management team in Mid Kent Audit, we wish to send our public thanks to the
team for their work through the year so far.

69.

We would also like to thank Managers, Officers and Members for their continued
support as we complete our audit work during the year.

Page 37

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
Annex: Assurance & Priority level definitions
Assurance Ratings 2019/20 (Unchanged from 2014/15)
Full Definition
Strong – Controls within the service are well designed and
operating as intended, exposing the service to no uncontrolled
risk. There will also often be elements of good practice or value
for money efficiencies which may be instructive to other
authorities. Reports with this rating will have few, if any;
recommendations and those will generally be priority 4.
Sound – Controls within the service are generally well designed
and operated but there are some opportunities for
improvement, particularly with regard to efficiency or to address
less significant uncontrolled operational risks. Reports with this
rating will have some priority 3 and 4 recommendations, and
occasionally priority 2 recommendations where they do not
speak to core elements of the service.
Weak – Controls within the service have deficiencies in their
design and/or operation that leave it exposed to uncontrolled
operational risk and/or failure to achieve key service aims.
Reports with this rating will have mainly priority 2 and 3
recommendations which will often describe weaknesses with
core elements of the service.
Poor – Controls within the service are deficient to the extent that
the service is exposed to actual failure or significant risk and
these failures and risks are likely to affect the Council as a whole.
Reports with this rating will have priority 1 and/or a range of
priority 2 recommendations which, taken together, will or are
preventing from achieving its core objectives.

Page 38

Short Description

Service/system is
performing well

Service/system is
operating effectively

Service/system requires
support to consistently
operate effectively

Service/system is not
operating effectively

Appendix A

MID KENT AUDIT
Recommendation Ratings 2019/20 (unchanged from 2014/15)
Priority 1 (Critical) – To address a finding which affects (negatively) the risk rating assigned
to a Council strategic risk or seriously impairs its ability to achieve a key priority. Priority 1
recommendations are likely to require immediate remedial action. Priority 1
recommendations also describe actions the authority must take without delay.
Priority 2 (High) – To address a finding which impacts a strategic risk or key priority, which
makes achievement of the Council’s aims more challenging but not necessarily cause severe
impediment. This would also normally be the priority assigned to recommendations that
address a finding that the Council is in (actual or potential) breach of a legal responsibility,
unless the consequences of non-compliance are severe. Priority 2 recommendations are
likely to require remedial action at the next available opportunity, or as soon as is practical.
Priority 2 recommendations also describe actions the authority must take.
Priority 3 (Medium) – To address a finding where the Council is in (actual or potential)
breach of its own policy or a less prominent legal responsibility but does not impact directly
on a strategic risk or key priority. There will often be mitigating controls that, at least to
some extent, limit impact. Priority 3 recommendations are likely to require remedial action
within six months to a year. Priority 3 recommendations describe actions the authority
should take.
Priority 4 (Low) – To address a finding where the Council is in (actual or potential) breach of
its own policy but no legal responsibility and where there is trivial, if any, impact on strategic
risks or key priorities. There will usually be mitigating controls to limit impact. Priority 4
recommendations are likely to require remedial action within the year. Priority 4
recommendations generally describe actions the authority could take.
Advisory – We will include in the report notes drawn from our experience across the
partner authorities where the service has opportunities to improve. These will be included
for the service to consider and not be subject to formal follow up process.

Page 39

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Audit & Governance
Committee

26 November
2019

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting?

Yes

Strategic Risk Review
Final Decision-Maker

Audit & Governance Committee

Portfolio Holder(s)

All

Lead Director

Lee Colyer – Director of Finance, Policy and
Development

Head of Service

Rich Clarke – Head of Audit Partnership

Lead Officer/Report Author

Lee Colyer – Director of Finance, Policy and
Development

Classification

Non-Exempt

Wards affected

All

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker:
1. That the Committee notes the risk management report and arrangements for
managing strategic risk.

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives:




A Prosperous Borough
A Green Borough
A Confident Borough

This report is concerned with the internal control and governance of the Council. Successful
controls and effective governance are a crucial underpinning for all corporate priorities.

Timetable
Meeting

Date

Management Board

6 November 2019

Audit and Governance Committee

26 November 2019

Page 41

Agenda Item 7
Strategic Risk Register
1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The report sets out the strategic risks identified by the Council and currently
being managed and tracked by senior management. The report provides a
current update on the evaluated threat level and controls in place for each risk
issue.

2.

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 The risks included in the report were developed in a risk management workshop
and health check facilitated by Zurich Insurance Limited on 25 March 2019, with
the risks being formally adopted by Cabinet on 1 August 2019. Since that time,
risk owners have kept the risks and controls under review with periodic
reporting both to the Cabinet and the Audit & Governance Committee.
2.2 The Council’s Management Board periodically reviews the risks identified along
with the risk owners.
2.3 On the 8 October 2019 Full Council decided that the Council would not be
delivering the Calverley Square scheme. This risk has now been removed from
the Strategic Risk Register.
2.4 Risk owners (managers) for certain risks are invited to attend the Audit and
Governance Committee meetings to outline the Council’s approach to
managing their particular risk(s). For this Committee meeting, members will be
able to examine the risk(s) owned by William Benson, Chief Executive, namely;



3.

Risk 5: National policy changes in short-term that impact negatively on TWBC
Risk 7: Capacity fails to keep pace with ambition

AVAILABLE OPTIONS

3.1 There is no legal requirement on the authority formally to monitor its risks, still
less is there a defined framework to do so. Although failing to monitor and
record risks will leave the Council vulnerable to external criticism – for example
by its external auditors who are required to assess the effectiveness of risk
management when considering their annual Value For Money conclusion – the
Council could decide that is a price worth paying against using some of its
resources to identify and monitor risk.
3.2 Even accepting the utility in gathering systematic monitoring information on the
risks it faces, there is a wide range of different approaches the Council might
adopt. Even if one looks solely at the local government sector, there are myriad

Page 42

Agenda Item 7
formats, structures and arrangements adopted to record and present
information to senior officers and members.

4.

PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1 The report sets out the risks using the methodology and format previously
agreed by the Council, which is essentially the method advocated by Zurich
from the 2019 risk workshop.

5.

CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK

5.1 The Strategic Risk Register has undergone periodic review and examination by
the Council’s Management Board, the Cabinet and the Audit & Governance
Committee. This stands in addition to ongoing monitoring by the identified risk
owners. This report incorporates feedback and updates from all sources.

6.

CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS

Issue

Implications

Sign-off
(name of officer
and date)

Legal including
Human Rights Act

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015
require the Council to have a sound
system of control which includes
arrangements for the management of risk.
This Report is part of those arrangements
and is designed to ensure that the
appropriate controls are effective.

Lee Colyer,
Director of
Finance, Policy
and Development

There are no immediate legal implications
arising from this report.
Finance and other
resources

None identified at this stage.

Staffing
establishment

None identified at this stage.

Risk management

Risk management is the subject of the report but
it does not of itself raise new risk issues for
consideration.
No new issues identified at this stage.

Data Protection
Environment
and sustainability

None identified at this stage.

Community safety None identified at this stage.
Health and Safety None identified at this stage.
Health and
wellbeing

None identified at this stage.

Page 43

Agenda Item 7
Equalities

7.

None identified at this stage.

REPORT APPENDICES

The following document is to be published with this report and forms part of the
report:


8.

Appendix A: Strategic Risk Register Update November 2019

BACKGROUND PAPERS

None

Page 44

Appendix A

Strategic Risks November 2019
The Strategic Risk Profile chart below shows each risk scored onto the risk matrix graph. The
further towards the top right hand corner the greater the risk to the Council. The chart below
provides only a snapshot on a particular date.
The risk scenarios are:










CSR01: Cyber attack / incident
CSR02: Economic development and vitality
CSR03: Contract management and delivery
CSR04: Unable to plan financially over the longer term
CSR05: National policy changes in short term that negatively impact TWBC
CSR06: Service Interruption
CSR07: Capacity fails to keep pace with ambitions
CSR08: Local plan adoption – housing
CSR09: The Amelia at the Amelia Scott
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Strategic Risk Profile

November 2019
Likelihood
5 = Almost
Certain
4 = Likely
3 = Possible
2 = Unlikely
1 = Remote

5

CSR
03

4

CSR 04

CSR 02
CSR 05
CSR 07

Likelihood

3

CSR 01
CSR 09

2

CSR 06
CSR 08

Impact
5+ Catastrophic
4 = Major
3 = Moderate
2 = Minor
1 = Minimal

1

1

2

3

Impact

Page 45

4

5

The table below tracks movement in the identified strategic risk areas.
Risk
Ref

Title

CSR 01

Cyber attack/ incident

CSR 02

Economic development and vitality

CSR 03

Contract management and delivery

CSR 04

Unable to plan financially over the longer
term.

CSR 05

National policy changes in short term impact
negatively on TWBC and direction.

Page 46

CSR 06

Service Interruption

CSR 07

Capacity fails to keep pace with ambitions

CSR 08

Local plan adoption - housing

CSR 09

The Amelia at the Amelia Scott

June 2019

August 2019

NA

New risk - 12
(3 x Lk, 4 x Im)
9
(3 x Lk, 3 x Im)
New risk - 8
(4 x Lk, 2 x Im)
9
(3 x Lk, 3 x Im)
12
(4 x Lk, 3 x Im)
8
(2 x Lk, 4 x Im)
16
(4 x Lk, 4 x Im)
8
(2 x Lk, 4 x Im)
New risk - 12
(3 x Lk, 4 x Im)

12
(3 x Lk, 4 x Im)
12
(4 x Lk, 3 x Im)
8
(4 x Lk, 2 x Im)
12
(4 x Lk, 3 x Im)
12
(4 x Lk, 3 x Im)
8
(2 x Lk, 4 x Im)
16
(4 x Lk, 4 x Im)
8
(2 x Lk, 4 x Im)
12
(3 x Lk, 4 x Im)

15
(5 x Lk, 3 x Im)
NA
9
(3 x Lk, 3 x Im)
18
(6 x Lk, 3 x Im)
12
(4 x Lk, 3 x Im)
15
(5 x Lk, 3 x Im)
12
(4 x Lk, 3 x Im)
NA

November
2019
12
(3 x Lk, 4 x Im)
16
(4 x Lk, 4 x Im)
8
(4 x Lk, 2 x Im)
12
(4 x Lk, 3 x Im)
16
(4 x Lk, 4 x Im)
8
(2 x Lk, 4 x Im)
16
(4 x Lk, 4 x Im)
8
(2 x Lk, 4 x Im)
12
(3 x Lk, 4 x Im)

Trend










Appendix A

March 2019

Risk Scenario 1: Cyber attack / incident
Risk Description:

Current Likelihood/ Impact

Possible (3) /Major (4)

Target Likelihood/ Impact

Unlikely (2) / Minor (2)

Officer Risk Owner

Chris Woodward

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors

Potential Impact/ Consequences

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/Actions



Increased threat from cyber security attacks



Designation of a Senior Information Risk Officer



Ever increasing reliance on digital systems for
virtually all Council activities and services







Public Service Network accreditation





Data increasingly held in electronic format, not
on hard copy paper records

Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards (PCI
DSS) compliance



Support from the National Centre for Cyber Security
(part of GCHQ)



Business Continuity Plan

A successful cyber-attack or cyber incident
which causes significant disruption to ability
to deliver services
Member Risk
Cllr Dawlings
Owner

Page 47



Robustness of IT Disaster recovery
arrangements







Systems offline for a period of time
Loss of data
Impacting on the ability of
Tunbridge to deliver services
Service disruption/failure
Dissatisfied customers – not
meeting customer expectations
Data compromised / lost
Safeguarding and data protection
issues
Financial impact –potential fine and
cost of rectifying

Appendix A

Risk Scenario 2: Economic development and vitality
Current Likelihood/Impact

Likely (4) / Major (4)

Tunbridge Wells not seen as a
destination of choice for retailers /
consumers / employers

Target Likelihood/ Impact

Possible (3) / Moderate (3)

Officer Risk Owner

David Candlin

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors

Potential Impact/ Consequences

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions



There are economic opportunities but
other areas are also chasing these.



Secure KMEP and SELEP support for delivery of key
infrastructure improvements



Changing nature of high street – shift to
online and ‘experience’









Maintain and develop working relationships with key
partners, landowners & developers



The local economic offer and reputation
is strong and improving with latent
demand, particularly in retail and ‘in
town’ while the Council has developed
wider Borough opportunities, e.g. North
Farm.



Royal Tunbridge Wells Together Business
Improvement District in place.



Ensure Local Plan and Transport Strategy address
economic & transport issues



Professional advice secured to establish viability of
transport schemes



Monitor Brexit negotiations and terms impacting on the
local economy and business sectors in the Borough



Lobby with partners and stakeholders (including
SELEP) to minimise negative impact of Brexit terms



Support for community facilities in the rural towns



Work with West Kent partners to promote key
economic development priorities



RVP refurbishment to proceed



Discussions to progress RVP redevelopment



Deliver out Amelia at Amelia Scott

Member Risk
Owner







Page 48



Cllr March

Redevelopment of RVP to provide an
improved offer.
There are issues around cost of housing
and infrastructure, particularly traffic
congestion which could affect ability to
make the most of opportunities.
The implications of Brexit have the
potential to have a significant impact on
the local economy.
Lack of ambition of Council to deliver
infrastructure and growth.









Lose out to other areas
Unable to secure sufficient opportunities
Local area and people lose out
Insufficient inward investment
Potential for local contagion – knock on
effect
Impact on economic vitality of area
Curtails attractiveness
Impact on revenue streams and income
(inc. business rates and car parking)
Housing not built
More vulnerable to appeal around Local
Plan
Impact on staff recruitment and retention
Damage to reputation as a place for
investment

Appendix A

Risk Description:

Risk Scenario 3: Contract management and delivery
Risk Description:

Current Likelihood/Impact

Likely (4) / Minor (2)

Council unable to source contractor to deliver
service within financial parameters / existing
provider ceases to provide service

Target Likelihood/ Impact

Unlikely (2) / Minor (2)

Officer Risk Owner

Gary Stevenson

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors

Potential Impact/ Consequences

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions







Contract supervision by TWBC



Contract terms requiring contractor to evidence
supervision and performance



Reporting of performance and service



Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish Group
established to assist in the development of the Grounds
Maintenance contract and specification



Additional resources have been provided and an
escalation process established with the contractor along
with an action plan.

Member Risk
Owner













Services disrupted or below agreed
standards
Complaints
Adverse publicity and media
Potential for Contractor withdrawal
or failure
Potential service failure
Disruption to services with business
continuity arrangements required
Required to re-tender at short notice
Additional capacity and resources
required at short notice
Knock on implications on other
activities.
Loss of public confidence in waste
and recycling service.

Appendix A



The Council has several long term external
contracts which are due to tender within the
near future, specifically Grounds Maintenance
(2019/20) and Sports Centres (2021/22).
There are long-term financial parameters
within which these contracts need to be let
and delivered to.
The Council is accountable and has
responsibility for delivery of these services,
even where they are delivered with or through
3rd party organisations.
The new Waste Contract involves the most
fundamental change to the service for 25
years. Whilst it is still very early in the term of
the contract the level of service is below the
level expected.

Page 49



Cllr March

Risk Scenario 4: Unable to plan financially over the longer term
Current Likelihood/Impact

Possible (4) / Moderate (3)

Longer term financial planning – risk of
change adverse to plan of more than £1m
across the medium term

Target Likelihood/ Impact

Possible (3) / Moderate (3)

Officer Risk Owner

Lee Colyer

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors

Potential Impact/ Consequences

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions









Revenue budget balanced without the use of general
reserves.



MTFS has manageable deficits.



‘User Pays’ principle to recover costs where allowable.



The Council has accepted the four year funding offer.



The Fair Funding Review has been put back to April
2021 along with the reset of the business rates baseline.
This process is required to inform the allocation of
resources for each council by the Government.



Government ‘capping’ of Council Tax continues for shire
districts whereas there is no central control of the levels
set by Parish Councils.
Proceeds of business rate growth are now being
consistently received.
The Council is part of the Kent business rate pool for
2019/20 and will continue to be so for 2020/21.

Member Risk
Owner








Core Government funding has reduced
significantly in favour of incentive based
schemes reliant on growth.
The four-year settlement ends on 31 March
2020 and has resulted in all Revenue Support
Grant (£1.6 million) disappearing.
The spending review has been put back to
April 2021 with a one year spending round
published for 2020/21.
The New Homes Bonus scheme faces an
uncertain future with new awards not recurring
and a review planned by the Government.
The Infrastructure Bill transferred the statutory
responsibility for Land Charges to the Land
Registry. This will substantially reduce the
Council’s income and write-off the investment
in technology and performance in this area.
‘Snap’ General Election has put on hold both
the Government’s Budget and the Provisional
Local Government Settlement.

Page 50



Cllr Dawlings











Impact on services
Reduction in ambition
Reactive decision-making and
budgeting rather than planning
Impact on capital programme and
major projects
Short term perspective reinforced
Central control of fees, burdens the
Council Tax payer rather than the
user of the service
Impact on decisions
Unpredictability and trust
Resources and staffing reduced or
redeployed
Impact on staff retention
Impact on partnership working
Unknown




Appendix A

Risk Description:

Risk Scenario 5: National policy changes in short term that impact negatively on TWBC
Risk Description:

Current Likelihood/Impact

Likely (4) / Major (4)

Significant legislative or decision-making
change adverse to plan and objectives with
little notice

Target Likelihood/ Impact

Possible (3) / Minor (2)

Officer Risk Owner

William Benson

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors

Potential Impact/ Consequences

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions







Flexibility encouraged amongst staff



Partnership working presents opportunities to
collaborate on service delivery and address constraints
on capacity



Engagement with the LGA, SOLACE, central
government and parish councils



Work with Kent County Council and the Kent
Resilience Forum on Brexit



Proactive work with representative bodies



Working with others to seize opportunities as they
arise (e.g. Business Rate pilots)

Member Risk
Owner



Cllr McDermott

The past few years have been characterised
by significant changes to the public sector
environment and regulations that govern it.

Page 51

More recently, the ongoing uncertainty over
Brexit continues to absorb nearly the total
bandwidth of central government with very
little attention being given to other issues
meaning that promised changes to areas such
as adult social care, local government finance
and business rate retention have not been
delivered.






The change in Prime Minister and Secretary
of State mean that there is further uncertainty
for Local Government with initial statements
suggesting that local government is not a
priority area for government. Planned changes 
to local government finance will not be

delivered by April 2020 with an interim
spending round resulting in a ‘technical
consultation’ that, if implemented, will present
significant challenges to the Council.



The announcement of a General Election on
12 December brings with it a likelihood of still
further change with manifestos being worked
up and potential changes in ministerial/
shadow positions.

Appendix A



Unpredictable and frequent
changes required to Council
operations and policy/ funding
assumptions
Significant work required to respond
and address any gaps
Increased and unplanned
requirement for resources and
finances
Funding streams increasingly shortterm and addressing specific issues
(with labour-intensive and drawnout application processes – e.g.
Future High Streets Fund)
Increased costs/reduced income
Lack of certainty on policy direction
and finance

Risk Scenario 6: Service Interruption
Current Likelihood/Impact

Unlikely (2) / Major (4)

A major incident occurs which causes
significant disruption to ability to deliver
services

Target Likelihood/ Impact

Unlikely (2) / Minor (2)

Officer Risk Owner

Denise Haylett

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors

Potential Impact/ Consequences

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions



Increased frequency of extreme weather



Interruption to critical services



Business Continuity Plan



Increased threats from terrorism



Potential service failure



Major Emergency Plan



Fire and other major events





Resilience through partnership working



Robustness and relevance of business
continuity and emergency planning
arrangements in an ever changing threat
environment

Staff being pulled in different
directions





Part of the Multi-Agency Agreement

Robustness of arrangements
potentially questioned / challenged



Member of the Kent Resilience Forum



Claims/Legal action/Compensation



Review of Emergency Planning arrangements



Adverse publicity



www.kentprepared.org.uk



National and local reputation
affected



Financial loss



Exposure to fraud, ransom and
denial of service



Potential government intervention

Member Risk
Owner

Page 52



Cllr McDermott

Possible impact from Brexit in respect of road
closures

Appendix A

Risk Description:

Risk Scenario 7: Capacity fails to keep pace with ambition
Risk Description:

Current Likelihood/Impact

Likely (4) / Major (4)

Target Likelihood/ Impact

Unlikely (2) / Minor (2)

Officer Risk Owner

William Benson

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors

Potential Impact/ Consequences

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions








Risk that capacity fails to keep pace with ambition
Member Risk
Owner


















Personal impacts – stress,
burnout, loss of wellbeing
Impact on morale
Reliance on key and fewer
people
Unavailability / loss of key staff
Impact on key projects and / or
day to day delivery
Services/staff are stretched
Impact on service quality
Satisfaction diminished
Major programme / projects not
delivered as expected
Adverse publicity
Political impact
Damage to reputation
Loss of confidence from the
private sector and partner
organisations.











Reduced number of priorities in strategic plan
Regular consideration by Management Board of
resources; additional resources put in place to
support priorities (including additional resources to
support the Council’s property section)
Introduction of a Programme Management Office to
oversee priority projects
Appropriate use of external capacity and expertise
Performance monitoring helps to identify pressure
points
Regular sickness monitoring
Quarterly analysis and reporting of complaints
identifying any trends
Improving resilience through partnerships
Adopting an ‘enabling’ approach to encourage
community to deliver local services
Review of the Council’s salary benchmarking to
ensure that we remain attractive to the local
employment market.
Work with all political groups to establish a revised
set of priorities going forward (including a
‘Councillor Convention’)

Appendix A



The Council has reduced staff numbers and
resources but is under pressure to do more with even
less money. With no government grant, the Council
relies on income to deliver services and some of
these income streams are being challenged as being
detrimental to the local economy (e.g. Business
Rates and car parking)
The local community is vocal, demanding and
articulate with significant expectations.
Whilst a decision has been taken not to proceed with
the Calverley Square scheme, the Council is likely to
retain a significant agenda of projects and a major
capital programme and significant resources will now
need to be invested into the existing buildings to keep
them operational.
Whilst there is general agreement that ‘doing
something is not an option’ and that the Council
‘needs to do something’ there is not yet clarity or
unanimity on what this means and what will be
required in terms of staff and financial capacity.
Reliance on a number of key people and teams
across Members and Officers.

Page 53



Cllr McDermott

Risk Scenario 8: Local Plan adoption – housing
Current Likelihood/Impact

Unlikely (2) / Major (4)

Local Plan not adopted effectively and
housing not delivered in right areas /
types

Target Likelihood/ Impact

Remote (1) / Minimal (1)

Officer Risk Owner

Stephen Baughen

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors

Potential Impact/ Consequences

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Action








Work on a new Local Plan is progressing to a
further revised timestable– agreed May 2019.



Frequent meetings and on-going communication
with Parish and Town Councils (PC/TCs).



Regular reporting to Planning Policy Working
Group/Cabinet member/ Planning Committee on
risk and legislative changes



Consultation is currently being undertaken on Draft
Local Plan. The start date of this accorded with the
timetable, although the end date has been extended
by two weeks.



The Draft Local Plan conclusions indicate that level
of identified need can be met by a combination of
current supply, additional allocations and windfall
provision. The outcome of the consultation will be
key in determining whether (and what) changes
may be required to the Draft Local Plan.



In the interim period whilst the Local Plan is
progressed, regard is being had when determining
planning applications to the need to ensure a robust
supply and delivery of housing and employment
floorspace.



Using the Planning Advisory Service and heeding
the views of the inspector from neighbouring
authorities draft plans.

Member Risk
Owner







There has been a change in housing
formula towards growth. There is
resistance to housing growth locally
with a difference between housing
target and housing supply levels
Having to meet significantly increased
needs in a constrained environment
(green belt / AONB / flooding /
transport infrastructure)
Reliance on developers
Potential to be out of compliance on
Local Plan
The risk of appeals has increased
Likelihood of pubic opposition to
particular allocated sites
The views of the Planning Inspector
with regard to those neighbouring
authorities whose draft local plans do
not meet the level required are
relevant to this Council.

Page 54




Cllr McDermott

















Council lose control of situation
Increase in level of housing on unallocated greenfield
sites
Member and community dissatisfaction
Legal consequences
Lack of affordable housing
Affordability gap gets worse
Impact on staff recruitment and retention
Increased traffic congestion
Impact on infrastructure
Financial benefit of planned growth – opportunity
impact
Significant new costs to support production of new
Local Plan if rejected by an Inspector at Examination.
Potential significant appeal related costs following
refusal of major residential development
Planning by appeal potentially leading to loss of local
decision making
Potential legal fees/officer costs/loss of section 106
Service delivery affected
Adversely affects the community
Increased costs from resubmitting or amending the
Draft Local Plan and a delay in delivering housing
and growth.

Appendix A

Risk Description:

Risk Scenario 9: The Amelia at the Amelia Scott
Risk Description:

Current Likelihood/Impact

Possible (3) / Major (4)

The project not delivered to plan, budget and
benefits

Target Likelihood/ Impact

Remote (1) / Minimal (1)

Officer Risk Owner

Paul Taylor

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors

Potential Impact/ Consequences

Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions






Member Risk
Owner







Delivering an integrated service that meets
the aspirations of all stakeholders e.g. KCC,
TWBC, HLF, Arts Council
Success of the project is dependent on
reaching a wider demographic
TWBC is currently ‘carrying the financial risk’
on this
Economic Climate
Internal capacity to deliver
Non-delivery of funding strategy

Page 55



Cllr March





Time delay and cost overrun
Potentially loss of funding from HLF/Arts
Council
Reputational impacts
Relationship issue with TWBC and KCC
Impact of front-line service delivery











Project Board
Detailed funding strategy and team
appointed to raise funding for it
Main contractor appointment through a
framework of contractors with skills to
deliver the build
Project management in place
Detailed risk logs
Regular reporting to HLF and Arts Council
TWBC Programme Board
Cabinet reporting

Appendix A

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Audit & Governance
Committee

26 November
2019

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting?

Yes

Update on complaints received under the
Members’ Code of Conduct
Final Decision-Maker

Audit & Governance Committee

Portfolio Holder(s)

Leader of the Council, Councillor McDermott

Lead Director

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and
Development

Head of Service

Patricia Narebor, Head of Legal Partnership and
Monitoring Officer

Lead Officer/Report Author

Keith Trowell, Team Leader (Corporate
Governance) and Deputy Monitoring Officer

Classification

Non-exempt

Wards affected

All

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker:
1. That Members note the update on complaints received under the Members’ Code of
Conduct.

This report relates to the following Five Year Plan Key Objectives:




A Prosperous Borough
A Green Borough
A Confident Borough

The report supports the Council’s commitment to probity in all our affairs as well as the
values of openness and responsibility.
Timetable
Meeting

Date

Audit & Governance Committee

26 November 2019

Page 57

Agenda Item 8
Update on complaints received under the
Members’ Code of Conduct
1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report provides an update on complaints received under the Members’
Code of Conduct in the period 30 August 2019 to 14th November 2019.

2.

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 The current Members’ Code of Conduct (“the Kent Code”) for Tunbridge Wells
Borough Council was adopted by the Borough Council on 18 July 2012. It was a
requirement under the Localism Act 2011 that all councils adopt a Code of
Conduct and that the Code adopted must be based upon the Nolan Principles
of Conduct in Public Life. At the same Full Council meeting the Council also
adopted arrangements for dealing with complaints (“the Kent Procedures”)
made under the Code of Conduct in the Tunbridge Wells area. The current
version of the Kent Procedures can be found on the Council’s website.
2.2 The Localism Act 2011 requirement to adopt a Code of Conduct also applied to
the parish and town councils in the Tunbridge Wells area and all have adopted
a Code of Conduct. These parish and town councils, with the exception of
Paddock Wood, adopted the same ‘Kent Code’ which had been agreed across
Kent and was adopted by the County Council, most of the district councils and
most of the parish and town councils in Kent. Paddock Wood Town Council
adopted the National Association of Local Councils model Code of Conduct.
2.3 Under the Localism Act 2011 the Borough Council is responsible for dealing
with any complaints made under the Members’ Codes of Conduct against
Borough, parish and town council members throughout the Tunbridge Wells
Borough area. The arrangements for dealing with complaints (“the Kent
Procedures”) that were adopted by the Borough Council also apply in cases
concerning parish and town councils.
2.4 The Borough Council have resolved that oversight of the Kent Procedures falls
under the Audit and Governance Committee.

3.

UPDATE ON COMPLAINTS RECEIVED

3.1 At each Audit and Governance Committee meeting the Monitoring Officer
provides an update regarding Code of Conduct complaints. The update omits
details of the identities of the complainant and the subject member because the
Localism Act repealed the previous statutory process under which names were
published. In the absence of that statutory process, the Data Protection Act
requires the names to be kept confidential at this stage

Page 58

Agenda Item 8
3.2 At the Audit and Governance Committee on 10 September 2019 it was reported
that there was one outstanding complaint that was awaiting the Subject
Member’s comments. Following receipt of those comments, the Monitoring
Officer consulted with Mr Michael O’Higgins, the Council’s Independent Person
and made some additional inquiries. As a result the Monitoring Officer
concluded that the complaint failed both the legal jurisdiction and the local
assessment criteria tests and rejected the complaint.
3.3 Since the last meeting three further complaints have been received. One
complaint is from a member of the public alleging bullying and disclosing private
information on social media. The other two complaints are from borough
councillors against the same fellow councillor alleging inaccurate and
defamatory statements which are being dealt with as one matter.
3.4 As to the first complaint the Monitoring Officer, having consulted the Council’s
Independent Person, is proposing to deal with the matter informally by providing
training and mentoring to the Subject Member.
3.5 In the remaining matter the Subject Member has offered an apology to the
Complainants and having received the Independent Persons views, the
Monitoring Officer has concluded the matter informally.

4

PREFERRED OPTION AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1 That Members note the update on complaints received under the Members’
Code of Conduct.

5

CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK

5.1 This report does not require further consultation as it is for information only.

6

NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE
DECISION

6.1 The Committee’s decision will be published in the minutes of this meeting on
the Council’s website in due course.

Page 59

Agenda Item 8
7

CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS

Issue

Implications

Sign-off
(name of officer and date)

Legal including
Human Rights
Act

It is a requirement under the
Localism Act 2011 that all Councils
adopt a Code of Conduct and that
the Code adopted must be based
upon the Nolan Principles of
Conduct in Public Life. The
Members’ Code of Conduct was
adopted by Full Council on 18 July
2012 and can be found on the
Council’s website.

Keith Trowell, Team Leader
(Corporate Governance) –
07.11.19.

Finance and
other resources

If a complaint proceeds to
investigation it may be carried out
by an external person. If this is the
case, there will be an irrecoverable
cost to the Council.

Jane Fineman, Head of
Finance & Procurement
18.11.19

Staffing
establishment

No issues.

Keith Trowell, Team Leader
(Corporate Governance) –
07.11.19.

Risk
management

An effective complaints system is
part of an effective system of
governance.

Keith Trowell, Team Leader
(Corporate Governance) –
07.11.19.

Data
Protection

Data will be held and processed in
accordance with the data protection
principles contained in the Data
Protection Act 2018.

Keith Trowell, Team Leader
(Corporate Governance) –
07.11.19.

Environment
and
sustainability

There are no relevant issues
identified within this report.

Keith Trowell, Team Leader
(Corporate Governance) –
07.11.19.

Community
safety

There are no relevant issues
identified within this report.

Keith Trowell, Team Leader
(Corporate Governance) –
07.11.19.

Health and
Safety

There are no relevant issues
identified within this report.

Health and
wellbeing

There are no relevant issues
identified within this report.

Equalities

The There are no relevant issues
identified within this report.

Keith Trowell, Team Leader
(Corporate Governance) –
07.11.19.
Keith Trowell, Team Leader
(Corporate Governance) –
07.11.19.
Keith Trowell, Team Leader
(Corporate Governance) –
07.1119.

Page 60

Agenda Item 8
8

REPORT APPENDICES

None

9

BACKGROUND PAPERS

None

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Audit & Governance
Committee

26 November 2019

Is the final decision on the recommendations in this report to be made at this meeting?

Yes

Request to consider a dispensation in respect of
a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest
Final Decision-Maker

Audit & Governance Committee

Portfolio Holder(s)

Councillor Tom Dawlings, Portfolio Holder for Finance and
Governance

Lead Director

Stephen McGinnes - Director of Mid Kent Services

Head of Service

Patricia Narebor – Head of Mid Kent Legal Partnership

Lead Officer/Author

Patricia Narebor – Head of Mid Kent Legal Partnership

Classification

Non Exempt

Wards affected

Park Ward

This report makes the following recommendations to the final decision-maker:
1. The Committee is asked to consider the request by Councillor Nicholas Pope to grant
him a dispensation to permit him to attend committee meetings, debate and vote on
items relating to the Calverley Square project should the need arise, and either:
(a) refuse the request;
(b) grant it unconditionally; or
(c) grant it subject to conditions.

Explain how this report relates to the Corporate Priorities in the Five Year Plan:



A Prosperous Borough
A Confident Borough

Timetable
Meeting

Date

Audit and Governance Committee

26 November 2019
Tunbridge Wells Committee Report, version: March 2019

Page 63

Agenda Item 9
Request to consider a dispensation in respect of
a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest
1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This Committee is required to consider the request for a dispensation for
Councillor Nicholas Pope that will permit him to attend committee
meetings, debate and vote on items relating to the Calverley Square project
should the need arise.

2.

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 Audit and Governance Committee has a responsibility to promote and maintain
high standards of conduct by Members and Co-opted Members of the Council
and to make recommendations to Council on improving standards.
2.2 The Committee’s functions also include the granting of dispensations pursuant
to S33(2) of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraph 8 of the adopted Code of
Conduct for Members taking into account the relevant conditions.
2.3 The Localism Act 2011, chapter 7 and related regulations require Councillors to
register disclosable pecuniary interests (DPI) for themselves and their
husband/wife/partner. The regulations include the registration of any beneficial
interest in land which is in the area of the relevant local authority – in this case
Tunbridge Wells. This will include a Councillor’s home address and any other
property owned within the borough.
2.4 Where a Councillor has a DPI, then section 31 of the Localism Act prevents the
Councillor taking part in a meeting of the Council or its Committees. Following
commencement of the Localism Act, the Department for Communities and
Local Government provided guidance on the implications of a DPI registered by
a Councillor within the Openness and Transparency on personal interests 2013
guide. The guidance is attached at Appendix A and the relevant section about
restrictions relating to a DPI is as follows:
What does having a disclosable pecuniary interest stop me doing?
If you are present at a meeting of your council or authority, of its executive or
any committee of the executive, or of any committee, sub-committee, joint
committee, or joint sub-committee of your authority, and you have a disclosable
pecuniary interest relating to any business that is or will be considered at the
meeting, you must not:


participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you
become aware of your disclosable pecuniary interest during the meeting
participate further in any discussion of the business, or



participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting.

Page 64

Agenda Item 9
These prohibitions apply to any form of participation, including speaking as a
member of the public.
In certain circumstances you can request a dispensation from these
prohibitions.
3.
The Council’s Code of Conduct
3.1 The Council’s Code of Conduct for Members under Part 5 of the Constitution
provides that the Code is based on the Seven Principles of Public Life under
section 28(1) of the Localism Act 2011. The Seven Principles are set out in the
extract from the Code at Appendix B of this Report and consist of Selflessness,
Integrity, Objectivity, Accountability, Openness, Honesty and Leadership.
Members are required to behave in a manner that is consistent with the Seven
Principles. In relation to Selflessness, Members are required to act solely in
terms of the public interest and never improperly confer an advantage or
disadvantage on any person or act to gain financial or other material benefits for
themselves, their family, a friend or close associate.
3.2 The Code also includes provision for the granting of dispensations. The
relevant sections read as follows:
“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means those interests of a description
specified in regulations made by the Secretary of State (as amended from time
to time) as set out in Annex 2 and where either it is:
(a) your interest or
(b) an interest of your spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you are living
as husband and wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you were civil
partners and provided you are aware that the other person has the interest.
The interests noted in the regulations relate to (a) employment, office, trade,
profession or vocation; (b) sponsorship; (c) contracts; (d) land; (e) licences; (f)
corporate tenancies; and (g) Securities.
“Other Significant Interest” means an interest (other than a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest or an interest in an Authority Function) in any business of the
Authority which:
(a) may reasonably be regarded as affecting the financial position of yourself
and/or an Associated Person to a greater extent than: i. other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward, as the case
may be, affected by the decision; or
ii. (in other cases) other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the
Authority’s area; affects the financial position of yourself and/or an Associated
Person; or
(b) relates to the determination of your application (whether made by you alone
or jointly or on your behalf) for any approval, consent, licence, permission or
registration or that of an Associated Person;

Page 65

Agenda Item 9
and where, in either case, a member of the public with knowledge of the
relevant facts would reasonably regard the interest as being so significant that it
is likely to prejudice your judgment of the public interest.
3.3 Declaring interests and participation in meetings
The Code of Conduct, paragraph 5 requires Councillors to take the following
steps where a DPI or Other Significant Interest is relevant to a decision to be
made by the Councillor and/or at a committee:
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest
5 (b) Where you are present at a meeting and have a Disclosable Pecuniary
Interest or Other Significant Interest in any matter to be considered, or being
considered, at the meeting, you must:
i. disclose the Interest; and
ii. explain the nature of that Interest at the commencement of that consideration
or when the Interest becomes apparent (subject to paragraph 6, below); and
unless you have been granted a dispensation or are acting under para 5(4):
iii. not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter at the
meeting; and
iv. withdraw from the meeting room in accordance with the Authority’s
Procedure Rules whenever it becomes apparent that the business is being
considered; and
v. not seek improperly to influence a decision about that business.

Other Significant Interest
5 (d) Where you have an Other Significant Interest in any business of the
Authority, you may attend a meeting but only for the purpose of making
representations, answering questions or giving evidence relating to the
business, provided that the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the
same purpose. Having made your representations, given evidence or answered
questions you must:
i. not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter at the
meeting; and
ii. withdraw from the meeting room in accordance with the Authority’s Procedure
Rules.
3.4

Dispensations
(b) A dispensation may be granted only if, after having had regard to all
relevant circumstances, the Audit and Governance Committee, its subcommittee, or the Monitoring Officer (where authorised) considers that:
i. without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited from participating
in any particular business would be so great a proportion of the body
transacting the business as to impede the transaction of the business; or

Page 66

Agenda Item 9
ii. without the dispensation, the representation of different political groups on
the body transacting any particular business would be so upset as to alter the
likely outcome of any vote relating to the business; or
iii. granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the
Authority's area; or
iv. without the dispensation each member of the Authority's executive would
be prohibited from participating in any particular business to be transacted by
the Authority's executive; or
v. it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.
(c) A dispensation must specify the period for which it has effect, and the
period specified may not exceed four years.

4.1

Councillor Nicholas Pope’s DPI and Dispensation request
Councillor Pope completed a Members’ Interest form following his election on 3
May 2018, which was entered on the Register of Members’ Pecuniary and
Other Interests. The DPI form is appended to this report at Appendix C.

4.2 Under Part D – Land in respect of any beneficial interest in land which is within
the area of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council; Cllr Pope declared that his
spouse/partner has a beneficial interest in Apartment 14 Grove Hill House, 2127 Grove Hill Road, Tunbridge Wells TN1 1SA.
4.3 Councillor Pope requested the monitoring officer to grant a dispensation to
enable him to participate and vote on the Calverley Square agenda item at
various full Council meetings in June July, September 2019 and the
extraordinary Council meeting in 8 October 2019. The request sent on 16
September is attached at Appendix D The monitoring officer declined to grant
the dispensation on the basis that the matters outlined at paragraph 3.4 of this
report (paragraph 8 of the Code of Conduct) had not been established.
Councillor Pope requires the Audit & Governance Committee to review his
application for a dispensation and the supporting statement is attached to
Appendix D.
4.4 On 20 July 2016 Full Council approved the Great Hall Car Park as the preferred
site for the new theatre. Councillor Pope’s spouse/partner’s purchase of
Apartment 14 Grove Hill House was completed on 28 April 2017 (source Public
Land Registry website).
4.5 The planning permission granted in respect of the Calverley Square project
required the Council to make arrangements regarding a compensation fund as
a mitigation measure for the benefit of the flats at Grove Hill House and the
owners. 14 Grove Hill House forms part of these arrangements and is
registered as a DPI on Councillor Pope’s Register of Interests form.
4.6 Councillor Pope also attended the CPO public Inquiry to object to the
confirmation of the CPO. His written statement outlining why he considered that
the CPO is not in the public interest is attached at Appendix E to this report.

Page 67

Agenda Item 9

5. AVAILABLE OPTIONS
Members of the Audit and Governance Committee can consider the request for a
dispensation and either:
(d) refuse the request;
(e) grant it unconditionally; or
(f) grant it subject to conditions.

6.

CONSULTATION RESULTS AND PREVIOUS COMMITTEE FEEDBACK
This report does not require further consultation.

7.

NEXT STEPS: COMMUNICATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE
DECISION

7.1 The Committee’s decision will be published in the minutes of this meeting on the
Council’s website.

8.

CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES AND IMPLICATIONS

Issue
Legal including
Human Rights
Act

Implications

Sign-off

The Localism Act 2011, chapter 7 requires
the Council to promote and maintain high
standards of conduct by Members and Coopted Members of the Council and to make
recommendations to Council on improving
standards. This function is delegated to the
Audit and Governance Committee.

Patricia Narebor
Head of Mid Kent
Legal
Partnership

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest are
prescribed in The Relevant Authorities
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests)
Regulations 2012. The Audit and
Governance Committee is responsible for
determining requests for dispensation by
Councillors under section 33(2) Localism
Act 2011.
Finance and
other resources

There are no financial implications.

Page 68

Head of Mid Kent
Legal
Partnership

Agenda Item 9
Staffing
establishment

Not applicable.

Risk
Management

The Council has a responsibility to maintain
good governance. It must take steps to
identify and manage threats and risks to
achieve its strategic objectives and enhance
the value of services that it provides to the
community.

Data Protection

Environment
and Sustainability
Community
Safety
Health and
Safety
Health and
Wellbeing
Equalities

9.

Head of Mid Kent
Legal
Partnership
Head of Mid Kent
Legal
Partnership

The Register of Member Interests is a public
register and published on the Council’s
website.

Head of Mid Kent
Legal
Partnership

There are no relevant issues identified
within this report.

Head of Mid Kent
Legal
Partnership

There are no relevant issues identified
within this report.

Head of Mid Kent
Legal
Partnership

There are no relevant issues identified
within this report.

Head of Mid Kent
Legal
Partnership

There are no relevant issues identified
within this report.

Head of Mid Kent
Legal
Partnership

There are no relevant issues identified
within this report.

Head of Mid Kent
Legal
Partnership

REPORT APPENDICES

The following documents are to be published with and form part of the report:


Appendix A: Guidance – Openness and transparency on personal interests



Appendix B: The Seven Principles of Public Life



Appendix C: Register of Interests for Cllr Pope



Appendix D: Email request for dispensation from Councillor Pope dated 16
September 2019



Appendix E: Statement of Objection, Cllr Pope – CPO Public Examination

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS
None

Page 69

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

Openness and transparency on personal
interests
A guide for councillors

September 2013
Department for Communities and Local Government

Page 71

Appendix A

© Crown copyright, 2013
Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the
terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/opengovernment-licence/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU,
or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.
This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/dclg
If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, email contactus@communities.gov.uk or write
to us at:
Department for Communities and Local Government
Eland House
Bressenden Place
London
SW1E 5DU
Telephone: 030 3444 0000
For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK
September 2013
ISBN: 978-1-4098--3604-9

Page 72

Appendix A

The Guide
This guide on personal interests gives basic practical information about how to be open
and transparent about your personal interests. It is designed to help councillors, including
parish councillors, now that new standards arrangements have been introduced by the
Localism Act 2011 1 .

Why are there new rules?
Parliament has abolished the Standards Board regime and all the rules under it. It has
done this because that centrally-imposed, bureaucratic regime had become a vehicle for
petty, malicious and politically-motivated complaints against councillors. Rather than
creating a culture of trust and openness between councillors and those they represent, it
was damaging, without justification, the public’s confidence in local democratic
governance.
The new standards arrangements that Parliament has put in place mean that it is largely
for councils themselves to decide their own local rules. It is essential that there is
confidence that councillors everywhere are putting the public interest first and are not
benefiting their own financial affairs from being a councillor. Accordingly, within the new
standards arrangements there are national rules about councillors’ interests. 2
Such rules, in one form or another, have existed for decades. The new rules are similar to
the rules that were in place prior to the Standards Board regime. Those rules, originating
in the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Government and Housing Act 1989,
involved local authority members registering their pecuniary interests in a publicly available
register, and disclosing their interests and withdrawing from meetings in certain
circumstances. Failure to comply with those rules was in certain circumstances a criminal
offence, as is failure to comply in certain circumstances with the new rules.

Does this affect me?
Yes, if you are an elected, co-opted, or appointed member of:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

a district, unitary, metropolitan, county or London borough council
a parish or town council
a fire and rescue authority
a transport or other joint authority
a combined authority or an economic prosperity board
the London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority
the Broads Authority

1

The Guide should not be taken as providing any definitive interpretation of the statutory requirements;
those wishing to address such issues should seek their own legal advice.
2
The national rules are in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011 and in the secondary legislation made under
the Act, particularly in The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 (S.I.
2012/1464).

Page 73

Appendix A
•
•
•
•

a National Park authority
the Greater London Authority
the Common Council of the City of London
the Council of the Isles of Scilly

How will there be openness and transparency about my
personal interests?
The national rules require your council or authority to adopt a code of conduct for its
members and to have a register of members’ interests.
The national rules require your council’s code of conduct to comply with the Seven
Principles of Public Life, and to set out how, in conformity with the rules, you will have to
disclose and register your pecuniary and your other interests. Within these rules it is for
your council to decide what its code of conduct says. An illustrative text for such a code is
available on the Department’s web site. 3
Your council’s or authority’s monitoring officer (or in the case of a parish council the
monitoring officer of the district or borough council) must establish and maintain your
council’s register of members’ interests. Within the requirements of the national rules it is
for your council or authority to determine what is to be entered in its register of members’
interests.

What personal interests should be entered in my council’s or
authority’s register of members’ interests?
Disclosable pecuniary interests, and any other of your personal interests which your
council or authority, in particular through its code of conduct, has determined should be
registered.
Any other of your personal interests which you have asked the monitoring officer, who is
responsible for your council’s or authority’s register of members’ interests, to enter in the
register.
As explained in the following section, your registration of personal interests should be
guided by your duty to act in conformity with the seven principles of public life. You should
ensure that you register all personal interests that conformity with the seven principles
requires. These interests will necessarily include your membership of any Trade Union.

What must I do about registering my personal interests?
Under your council’s code of conduct you must act in conformity with the Seven Principles
of Public Life. One of these is the principle of integrity – that ‘Holders of public office must
avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or organisations that might try
inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should not act or take decisions in
3

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/illustrative-text-for-local-code-of-conduct--2

Page 74

Appendix A
order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their
friends. They must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.’ 4 .
Your registration of personal interests should be guided by this duty and you should give
the monitoring officer who is responsible for your council’s or authority’s register of
members’ interests any information he or she requests in order to keep that register up to
date and any other information which you consider should be entered in the register.
All sitting councillors need to register their declarable interests – both declarable pecuniary
interests, and other interests that must be declared and registered as required by your
authority’s code, or your duty to act in conformity with the Seven Principles of Public Life,
such as your membership of any Trade Union. Any suggestion that you should tell the
monitoring officer about your pecuniary interests only in the immediate aftermath of your
being elected is wholly incompatible with this duty, with which you must comply.
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest which is not recorded in the register and which
relates to any business that is or will be considered at a meeting where you are present,
you must disclose 5 this to the meeting and tell the monitoring officer about it, if you have
not already done so, so that it can be added to the register. You must tell the monitoring
officer within 28 days of disclosing the interest. For this purpose a meeting includes any
meeting of your council or authority, of its executive or any committee of the executive,
and of any committee, sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of your
authority.
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest which is not shown in the register and relates
to any business on which you are acting alone, you must, within 28 days of becoming
aware of this, tell the monitoring officer about it, if you have not already done so, so that it
can be added to the register. You must also stop dealing with the matter as soon as you
become aware of having a disclosable pecuniary interest relating to the business.
When you are first elected, co-opted, or appointed a member to your council or authority,
you must, within 28 days of becoming a member, tell the monitoring officer who is
responsible for your council’s or authority’s register of members’ interests about your
disclosable pecuniary interests. If you are re-elected, re-co-opted, or reappointed a
member, you need to tell the monitoring officer about only those disclosable pecuniary
interests that are not already recorded in the register.

What are pecuniary interests?
A person’s pecuniary interests are their business interests (for example their employment,
trade, profession, contracts, or any company with which they are associated) and wider

4

http://www.public-standards.gov.uk/about-us/what-we-do/the-seven-principles/
If the interest is a sensitive interest you should disclose merely the fact that you have such a disclosable
pecuniary interest, rather than the interest. A sensitive interest is one which the member and the monitoring
officer, who is responsible for the register of members’ interests, consider that disclosure of its details could
lead to the member, or a person connected to the member, being subject to violence or intimidation.
5

Page 75

Appendix A
financial interests they might have (for example trust funds, investments, and assets
including land and property).

Do I have any disclosable pecuniary interests?
You have a disclosable pecuniary interest if you, or your spouse or civil partner, have a
pecuniary interest listed in the national rules (see annex). Interests or your spouse or civil
partner, following the approach of the rules under the 1972 and 1989 Acts, are included to
ensure that the public can have confidence that councillors are putting the public interest
first and not benefiting the financial affairs of themselves or their spouse or civil partner
from which the councillor would stand to gain. For this purpose your spouse or civil
partner includes any person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or as if they
were your civil partner.

Does my spouse’s or civil partner’s name need to appear on
the register of interests?
No. For the purposes of the register, an interest of your spouse or civil partner, which is
listed in the national rules, is your disclosable pecuniary interest. Whilst the detailed
format of the register of members’ interests is for your council to decide, there is no
requirement to differentiate your disclosable pecuniary interests between those which
relate to you personally and those that relate to your spouse or civil partner.

Does my signature need to be published online? Won’t this
put me at risk of identity theft?
There is no legal requirement for the personal signatures of councillors to be published
online.

Who can see the register of members’ interests?
Except for parish councils, a council’s or authority’s register of members’ interests must be
available for inspection in the local area, and must be published on the council’s or
authority’s website.
For parish councils, the monitoring officer who is responsible for the council’s register of
members’ interests must arrange for the parish council’s register of members’ interests to
be available for inspection in the district of borough, and must be published on the district
or borough council’s website.
Where the parish council has its own website, its register of members’ interests must also
be published on that website.
This is in line with the Government’s policies of transparency and accountability, ensuring
that the public have ready access to publicly available information.

Page 76

Appendix A
Is there any scope for withholding information on the
published register?
Copies of the register of members’ interests which are available for inspection or published
must not include details of a member’s sensitive interest, other than stating that the
member has an interest the details of which are withheld. A sensitive interest is one which
the member and the monitoring officer, who is responsible for the register of members’
interests, consider that disclosure of its details could lead to the member, or a person
connected to the member, being subject to violence or intimidation.

When is information about my interests removed from my
council’s register of members’ interests?
If you cease to have an interest, that interest can be removed from the register. If you
cease to be a member of the authority, all of your interests can be removed from the
register.

What does having a disclosable pecuniary interest stop me
doing?
If you are present at a meeting of your council or authority, of its executive or any
committee of the executive, or of any committee, sub-committee, joint committee, or joint
sub-committee of your authority, and you have a disclosable pecuniary interest relating to
any business that is or will be considered at the meeting, you must not:
•
•

participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become aware
of your disclosable pecuniary interest during the meeting participate further in any
discussion of the business, or
participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting.

These prohibitions apply to any form of participation, including speaking as a member of
the public.
In certain circumstances you can request a dispensation from these prohibitions.

Where these prohibitions apply, do I also have to leave the
room?
Where your council’s or authority’s standing orders require this, you must leave the room.
Even where there are no such standing orders, you must leave the room if you consider
your continued presence is incompatible with your council’s code of conduct or the Seven
Principles of Public Life.

Do I need a dispensation to take part in the business of
setting council tax or a precept?
Page 77

Appendix A

Any payment of, or liability to pay, council tax does not create a disclosable pecuniary
interest as defined in the national rules; hence being a council tax payer does not mean
that you need a dispensation to take part in the business of setting the council tax or
precept or local arrangements for council tax support.
If you are a homeowner or tenant in the area of your council you will have registered, in
accordance with the national rules, that beneficial interest in land. However, this
disclosable pecuniary interest is not a disclosable pecuniary interest in the matter of
setting the council tax or precept since decisions on the council tax or precept do not
materially affect your interest in the land. For example, it does not materially affect the
value of your home, your prospects of selling that home, or how you might use or enjoy
that land.
Accordingly, you will not need a dispensation to take part in the business of setting the
council tax or precept or local arrangements for council tax support, which is in any event a
decision affecting the generality of the public in the area of your council, rather than you as
an individual.

When and how can I apply for a dispensation?
The rules allow your council or authority in certain circumstances to grant a dispensation to
permit a member to take part in the business of the authority even if the member has a
disclosable pecuniary interest relating to that business. These circumstances are where
the council or authority considers that:
• without the dispensation so great a proportion of the council or authority would be
prohibited from participating in that business as to impede the council’s or
authority’s transaction of that business,
• without the dispensation the representation of different political groups dealing with
that business would be so upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote,
• the granting of the dispensation is in the interests of people living in the council’s or
authority’s area,
• without the dispensation each member of the council’s executive would be
prohibited from participating in the business, or
• it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.
If you would like your council or authority to grant you a dispensation, you must make a
written request to the officer responsible for handling such requests in the case of your
council or authority.

What happens if I don’t follow the rules on disclosable
pecuniary interests?
It is a criminal offence if, without a reasonable excuse, you fail to tell the monitoring officer
about your disclosable pecuniary interests, either for inclusion on the register if you are a
newly elected, co-opted or appointed member, or to update the register if you are reelected or re-appointed, or when you become aware of a disclosable pecuniary interest
which is not recorded in the register but which relates to any matter;

Page 78

Appendix A
•
•

that will be or is being considered at a meeting where you are present, or
on which you are acting alone.

It is also a criminal offence to knowingly or recklessly provide false or misleading
information, or to participate in the business of your authority where that business involves
a disclosable pecuniary interest. It is also a criminal offence to continue working on a
matter which can be discharged by a single member and in which you have a disclosable
pecuniary interest.
If you are found guilty of such a criminal offence, you can be fined up to £5,000 and
disqualified from holding office as a councillor for up to five years.

Where can I look at the national rules on pecuniary
interests?
The national rules about pecuniary interests are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act
2011, which is available on the internet here:
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/part/1/chapter/7/enacted
and in the secondary legislation made under the Act, in particular The Relevant Authorities
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 which can be found here:
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/contents/made

Page 79

Appendix A

Annex A
Description of Disclosable Pecuniary
Interests
If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable pecuniary
interests under the new national rules. Any reference to spouse or civil partner includes
any person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or as if they were your civil
partner.
•

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain,
which you, or your spouse or civil partner, undertakes.

•

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your council
or authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expenses
incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election
expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within
the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.
The relevant period is the 12 months ending on the day when you tell the
monitoring officer about your disclosable pecuniary interests following your election
or re-election, or when you became aware you had a disclosable pecuniary interest
relating to a matter on which you were acting alone.

•

Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner (or a
body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial interest)
and your council or authority –
o under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be
executed; and
o which has not been fully discharged.

•

Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, have
and which is within the area of your council or authority.

•

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your civil
partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council or authority for a month or
longer.

•

Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) –
o the landlord is your council or authority; and
o the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a
beneficial interest.

Page 80

Appendix A

•

Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in
securities of a body where –
o (a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area
of your council or authority; and
o (b) either –
 the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
 if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you, or your
spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial interest exceeds one
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

Page 81

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix C
Localism Act 2011, s. 29(5) (b), s. 29(6) (b)

Register of Interests

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
Name of Councillor: Nicholas John Ormsby Pope
Date of Election/Co-option: 03/05/2018

Part A: Employment
1. Any Employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain
Councillor
Computer Consultant & Director
Keyhurst Ltd
Radius House
51 Clarendon Road
Watford
WD17 1HP

Councillor’s husband/wife/civil
partner/co-habitee
Self Employed Executive Coach &
Speaker
4 Mountfield Road
Tunbridge Wells
Kent TN1 1SG
(Sole Trader)

Part B: Sponsorship
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Tunbridge
Wells Borough Council) made or provided within the relevant period* in respect of any
expenses incurred by the Councillor in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the
Councillor’s election expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act
1992.
*’relevant period’ means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which the
Councillor gave a notification for the purposes of section 30(1) or section 31(7), as the case
may be, of the Localism Act 2011

£339.93 from TWA towards election expenses

Page 85

Appendix C
Part C: Contracts
Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in which the relevant
person has a beneficial interest*) and Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) Which has not been fully discharged
*”body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the
relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a director,
or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest;
“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and
provident society;

Councillor

Councillor’s husband/wife/civil
partner/co-habitee

N/A

N/A

Part D: Land
Any beneficial interest in land* which is within the area of the Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council
*”land excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not
carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land
or receive income

Councillor
4 Mountfield Road
Tunbridge Wells
Kent
TN1 1SG

Councillor’s husband/wife/civil
partner/co-habitee
Flat 14
Grove Hill House
21 – 27 Grove Hill Road
Tunbridge Wells
Kent
TN1 1SA

Page 86

Appendix C
Part E: Licences
Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land* in the area of the relevant
authority for a month or longer
*” land excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not
carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land
or to receive income
Councillor

Councillor’s husband/wife/civil
partner/co-habitee

N/A

N/A

Part F: Corporate Tenancies
Any tenancy where(a) The landlord is Tunbridge Wells Borough Council and
(b) The tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest
*”body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the
relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a director,
or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest.
“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and
provident society
“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building
society
Councillor

Councillor’s husband/wife/civil
partner/co-habitee

N/A

N/A

Page 87

Appendix C
Part G: Securities
Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where –
(a) That body has a place of business or land in the area of Tunbridge Wells Borough
Council and
(b) Either –
(1) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 (face value) or one
hundredth (1/100th) of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(2) If the share capital of that body is more than one class, the total nominal value of the
shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class
“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building
society
Councillor

Councillor’s husband/wife/civil
partner/co-habitee

N/A

N/A

Page 88

Appendix D
Email request for dispensation from Councillor Pope dated 16
September 2019
From: Nick Pope (Cllr)
Sent: 16 September 2019 11:19
To: Patricia Narebor
Cc: William Benson; Alan McDermott (Cllr); Dianne Hill (Cllr); Ben Chapelard (Cllr)
Subject: Calverley Square - Dispensation
To: Patricia Narebor (Monitoring Officer)
CC: William Benson (Chief Exective), Cllr Alan McDermott (Leader TWBC), Cllr Dianne Hill
(Labour Group Leader), Cllr Ben Chapelard (Liberal Democrat Group Leader)
Date: 16/09/2019
Patricia,
I am applying for a dispensation to vote on the Calverley Square scheme at Full Council next
week.
The council's constitution says the following:
A dispensation may only be granted by the monitoring officer from the above restrictions on
limited grounds. These include:
(a) where the quorum for the meeting would be adversely impacted;
(b) the political balance would be affected so as to alter the likely outcome of any vote;
(c) granting the dispensation would be in the interests of persons living in the Borough; or
(d) it would otherwise be appropriate to grant a dispensation.
I am requesting a dispensation on the following grounds:
(b) Political balance - as there will be at least one Tunbridge Wells Alliance member (xxx)
unable to attend the meeting on 25th September due to work commitments, which they are
unable to change due to the nature and timing of the work assignment they are working on,
and the vote is very likely to be close.
(c) Interests of persons living in the Borough - the mandate on which I was elected was on
the Calverley Square project along with the other Tunbridge Wells Alliance councillors who
represent wards across the Borough. By preventing me from being able to vote, I am being
prevented from acting in the interests of residents.
I would like to clarify one thing that has been raised about my views on the project. They
have not changed since my wife bought a flat in Grove Hill House in early 2017 and I have
not taken a position on Calverley Square for reasons of personal interest. My original views
about the project were as chairman of and spokesperson for the Friends of Calverley
Grounds, a community group with an interest in the public park in the centre of Tunbridge
Wells. The initial views of the Friends of Calverley Grounds committee were submitted to
the Town Forum in March 2016. This document attempted to balance being positive about
the idea of a development next to Calverley Grounds whilst, at the same time, listing a
number of concerns. On 17th June 2019, at the Extraordinary Full Council Meeting, the
Leader of TWBC quoted a two and a half line paragraph that set out the reasons the council
gave for wanting to build a theatre on the Great Hall car park site. This short paragraph did
not set out my personal views or the views of the committee of the Friends of Calverley
Grounds. I have attached the whole document for reference. I should also clarify that there
have been many changes to the Calverley Square development since March 2016.

Page 89

Appendix D
I look forward to receiving a dispensation.
Regards
Nick
Councillor Nicholas Pope, Park ward, Borough of Tunbridge Wells
e: nicholas.pope@tunbridgewells.gov.uk

Page 90

Appendix D
Request for a dispensation to debate and vote on proposed
developments on the site of the Calverley Square scheme (Revised
summary of request from Councillor Pope November 2019)
This document sets out my argument for the request of a dispensation to be able to debate
and vote on proposed developments on the site of the Calverley Square scheme. The site
includes the following: the Great Hall car park, the Mount Pleasant Avenue car park, the
Lodge and public toilets in the entrance of Calverley Grounds, and parts of Calverley
Grounds adjacent to these.
Over the last 5 months, I have been required to withdraw from debates and votes on
Calverley Square because of a DPI, my wife owns a one bedroom flat in Grove Hill House, a
building that is adjacent to the Great Hall car park and affected by the Calverley Square
CPO.
The constitution says:
A dispensation may be granted only if, after having had regard to all relevant circumstances,
the Audit and Governance Committee, its sub-committee, or the Monitoring Officer (where
authorised) considers that:
i. without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited from participating in any
particular business would be so great a proportion of the body transacting the business as to
impede the transaction of the business; or
ii. without the dispensation, the representation of different political groups on the body
transacting any particular business would be so upset as to alter the likely outcome of any
vote relating to the business; or
iii. granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the Authority's area; or
iv. without the dispensation each member of the Authority's executive would be prohibited
from participating in any particular business to be transacted by the Authority's executive; or
v. it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.
I believe I should be allowed a dispensation based on items (iii) and (v) above. It is also
possible that the outcome of a vote could be upset, and so item (ii) above should also be
included.
The test as to whether I should be allowed a dispensation is whether a fair-minded informed
observer, knowing all the relevant circumstances, would consider there to be a real
possibility for bias. The test is not whether there is a 'potential for bias'.
If a person were to conclude that there is 'a real possibility of bias', they must be able to
show some reasonable connection between the impact the development would have on me
and the way I might vote to serve my own, rather than the public interest, taking into account
'all the relevant circumstances'. The only circumstance to consider is that there is a DPI.
That is demonstrably an insufficient test.
In the Localism Act 2011 S25, the explanatory notes make it clear that merely having
expressed a view or campaigned on an issue is not sufficient to show predetermination.
However, the fact that a view has been expressed and an issue has been a central part of a
Party's manifesto is a material factor in determining the circumstances relevant to a fairminded person's assessment of the likelihood of real bias where there is a DPI. If the
Member has consistently taken a public position on a particular matter, as is the case here
with regard to my position on Calverley Square, it is hard to see how a fair-minded person
would consider that maintaining that position in debate and on voting in the Chamber, was
evidence of bias, particularly where it is clear that that position is at best neutral to the
Member's interests. The argument for bias could only reasonably apply were I to take a
position contrary to my declared public stance.

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix E
Calverley Square
Compulsory Purchase Order 2018
Councillor Nicholas Pope MBA, Beng
Why the CPO is not in the public interest - summary
Introduction
My name is Nicholas Pope, I became a councillor on Tunbridge Wells Borough Council in May last
year, representing the Tunbridge Wells Alliance party, and am the former chairman of the Friends
of Calverley Grounds, the community group registered as a charitable incorporated organisation
with an interest in the public park, Calverley Grounds, that is directly affected by the Calverley
Square development on the western edge of the park. I am also a resident of Mountfield Road, a
residential road that has one of the four public entrances into the public park at the end of the
road. My wife owns a one bedroom flat in Grove Hill House and is a statutory objector.
I have been a resident of Royal Tunbridge Wells since September 2010 and have been involved in a
number of community projects including one to build a community funded playground on the
retired bowling green in the eastern part of Calverley Grounds. The playground gained enormous
support from the community with the project team successfully raising more than the £225,000
required to build the playground.
I am a founding member of Tunbridge Wells Alliance which was initially founded as a residents
action group in October 2016 formed after two separate petitions raised enough signatures to be
debated in the Town Hall by councillors on 26th July 2017. Tunbridge Wells Alliance was registered
as a political party at the end of February last year just in time for the 2018 local elections in May.
Tunbridge Wells Alliance is often described as a one issue party with the sole purpose of opposing
the Calverley Square development.
Do the public want a new theatre?
In a residents survery undertaken on behalf of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council in 2015, one
question asked:
“Would you be willing to pay a bit more in Council Tax (for example £10
a year or 19p a week) if this would allow us to deliver a significant
project such as a new theatre worthy of the Borough?”.
55% responded “No”, 32% responded “Yes”, 13% responded “Don't
know”.
Online petitions have been created opposing and supporting the “Calverley Square” development:
The “Save Our Park” petition which opposes the developent has received 5,434 signatures.
The “Stunning new theatre and Civic Complex for Tunbridge Wells” petition created to support the
Civic Complex project has received 201 signatures since it was created.
Two borough councillors held surveys in 2017 to find out whether the residents of their wards
supported the Civic Centre Development.

Page 93

Appendix E
In Southborough North ward residents voted 342 to 86 or 79.9% against the project.
In Sherwood ward residents voted 452 to 113 or 80.0% against the project.
Tunbridge Wells Alliance registered as a new political party at the end of February 2018 just 10
weeks before the borough council elections on 3 May. It is often badged as being a one issue party.
It fielded candidates in 7 out of the 16 wards in the borough and successfully took an average of
25% of the votes in the 7 wards winning one council seat. My council seat.
The 31 January 2018 edition of Country Life magazine had an Athena article with the title “Justified
Outrage at Tunbridge Wells” which clearly took a position that strongly opposed the development,
including the words “The motives of the Council's leaders are difficult to comprehend”.
Members of the public have filled the town hall to capacity with some being turned away on two
occasions. Residents have also stood in the park to protest on three occasions, twice covered in
the local newspapers and once appearing in the Mail on Sunday.
The site selection process for the Calverley Square development
The site selection process was limited to a small number of sites failing to consider obvious options
for such a large development - the old cinema site which has been derelict since the cinema closed
on 1st December 2000, the 1960s Crescent Road multi-storey car park, and the use a temporary
theatre, something used during many other theatre refurbishments and redevelopments.
The cinema site is not owned by the Borough Council, but is the town centre site that many
residents have been calling to have developed as it has been a derelict grot spot in the centre of
town for over 18 years.
The Borough Council has done little about the cinema site in the 18 years it has sat derelict. In
October 2011, the councillor with the Portfolio for Property & Major Projects, Councillor David
Jukes, said the following in his Portfolio Holder Monthly Update:
Cinema Site
As this is the third or fourth developer to take over the project in the last eleven
years, the Council is still minded to continue with the process of a compulsory
purchase with a view to one day having this site for community use.

It is almost certain it would cost less to CPO the cinema site than the combined cost to CPO
properties around the Calverley Square site and build a replacement underground car park at total
cost of £19 million. The cinema site was bought for £12 million in 2011 by Bellhouse/Joseph and
changed hands again for an undisclosed amount in April 2016.
The Crescent Road Car Park is owned by the Council. It takes up a large area in the centre of town
close to the civic buildings, the Town Hall, Assembly Hall Theatre and Police Station and is ripe for a
redevelopment into a more human friendly environment with offices, entertainment, residential
and retail uses with an underground car park below.
One reason given for not redeveloping the existing Assembly Hall Theatre was to ensure there was
“continuity of theatre operation” to avoid losing an audience during the redevelopment. An option
that offers continuity of theatre operation that has not appeared in any documents is to use a
temporary theatre. The use of temporary theatres is common practice. Examples are:
In Chichester, in 2013 the Theatre In The Park temporary theatre which could seat 1,400.
In London, in 2014, the National Theatre built a temporary theatre called The Shed which could
seat 220.

Page 94

Appendix E
In Colchester, a temporary theatre with 800 seats will be used.
Damage to the Grade II Listed park, Calverley Grounds
Historic England, in the Grade II Listing entry, describes the view from Calverley Grounds and
Calverley Park as follows: “From the higher slopes and the plateau there are extensive views
westwards and southwards, through tree cover, over Tunbridge Wells and to the more distant
countryside.”
The construction of the Calverley Square development will block this view through tree cover,
replacing it with a wall of glass and concrete.
The Statement of Case, section 2.50, talks about “reflections from vehicle windscreens which spoil
views from within the grounds”. The only place where these reflections might be seen is from the
vehicles parked in the Great Hall car park, but these vehicles are barely visible from most places
within the park as the car park is part concealed by trees, particularly in the summer.
The Great Hall car park was built in the 1980s and designed to blend in with the Great Hall by using
matching bricks and arches in the design to mimic the Great Hall. It was built as a low structure to
minimise the impact on the park, with the lower levels of parking built below ground level. The
new theatre and office building would significantly impact on the character of the park, replacing
the green western edge with an abrupt, hard boundary of glass and concrete several storeys high.
Failure to consult
A significant number of consultations with various stakeholder groups are listed in the Statement
of Reasons. However, the most important decision of this project was never put out for
consultation or discussed with stakeholders. The decision that was not consulted on was the site
selection which which took place prior to October 2015.
The list of consultations in the Statement of Reasons, section 2.53, shows only one consultation
before October 2015, a meeting with Historic England.
I attended a presentation about the site selection. Few questions were answered and no
explanation of how the 13 initial options were shortlisted to five and then to the final selection
was given. Many felt it was a fait accompli.

Page 95

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20
REPORT TITLE

02/07/19

Audit and Governance
Committee Annual Report

X

Annual Internal Audit Report
and Opinion

X

10/09/19

26/11/19

Internal Audit and Assurance
Plan
X

Internal Audit Charter

X

Annual Audit Letter

X
X

External Audit Progress
Report
Financial Report and Audit
Findings 2018/19

X

X

Annual Complaints Report and
Local Government
Ombudsman Annual Review

X

Update on Member
Complaints

X

Strategic Risk Review
(incorporating Annual Risk
Management Summary in
July)

X

Attendance of Strategic Risk
Owners

X

X

X

X

X

X

(Paul Taylor)

(William Benson)

(Gary Stevenson and /
or Stephen Baughen)

Appointment of members to
Constitution Review Working
Party
Amendments to the
Constitution
(As and when required)
Request to consider a
dispensation in respect of a
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest
Briefings/member
development (post Committee)

May
2020

X

Internal Audit Interim Report

External Audit Plan (including
Audit Fee)

31/03/20

X

X

X

X

X

(Rich
Clarke)

(Jane Fineman)

(Elizabeth Jackson)

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Audit & Governance
Committee

26 November 2019

Urgent Business
Procedural Item:
To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent, for the reasons to
be stated, in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 99

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Audit and Governance
Committee

26 November 2019

Date of Next Meeting
Procedural Item:
To note that the date of the next scheduled meeting is Tuesday 31 March 2020 at
6.30pm.

Page 101

This page is intentionally left blank

